
CITY COUNCIL 

 

MEETING AGENDA 

FEBRUARY 02, 2026, 6:00 PM 
 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

HISTORIC CHURCH BUILDING - 403 N 7TH STREET, SANGER, TEXAS 

 

CALL THE WORK SESSION TO ORDER AND ESTABLISH A QUORUM 

DISCUSSION ITEMS 

1. Consideration, acknowledgement, and acceptance of the annual financial report and 

related audit by BrooksWatson & Co. for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2025. 

2. Briefing by the City's Municipal Advisor on the potential refunding of the Series 2015 & 
Series 2017 Certificates of Obligation. 

OVERVIEW OF ITEMS ON THE REGULAR AGENDA 

ADJOURN THE WORK SESSION 

The Regular Meeting will begin following the Work Session 
but not earlier than 7:00 p.m. 

CALL THE REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER AND ESTABLISH A QUORUM 

INVOCATION AND PLEDGE 

CITIZENS COMMENTS 

This is an opportunity for citizens to address the Council on any matter.  Comments related to 
public hearings will be heard when the specific hearing begins.  Citizens are allowed 3 minutes 
to speak.  Each speaker must complete the Speaker’s Form and include the topic(s) to be 
presented.  Citizens who wish to address the Council with regard to matters on the agenda will 
be received at the time the item is considered. The Council is not allowed to converse, 
deliberate or take action on any matter presented during citizen input. 
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CONSENT AGENDA 

All items on the Consent Agenda will be acted upon by one vote without being discussed 
separately unless requested by a Councilmember to remove the item(s) for additional 
discussion. Any items removed from the Consent Agenda will be taken up for individual 
consideration. 

3. Consideration, acknowledgement, and acceptance of the annual financial report and 

related audit by BrooksWatson & Co. for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2025. 

4. Consideration and possible action on purchasing Electric Meters from Aqua-Metric Sales 

Company and authorizing the City Manager to execute said agreement and all 

necessary documents. 

5. Consideration and possible action on the minutes from the January 20, 2026, meeting. 

ACTION ITEMS 

6. Consideration and possible action to authorize the City Manager to execute a new task 

order under the FY2020 Engineering Assistance and Miscellaneous Task Agreement 

with Halff Associates, Inc., for professional landscape architectural and engineering 

services related to the Porter Park East Complex 

FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

The purpose of this item is to allow the Mayor and Councilmembers to bring forward items they 
wish to discuss at a future meeting, A Councilmember may inquire about a subject for which 
notice has not been given. A statement of specific factual information or the recitation of 
existing policy may be given. Any deliberation shall be limited to a proposal to place the subject 
on an agenda for a subsequent meeting. Items may be placed on a future meeting agenda with 
a consensus of the Council or at the call of the Mayor. 

INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

Information Items are for informational purposes only.  No action may be taken on items listed 
under this portion of the agenda. 

7. Republic Services Waste Report December 2025 

8. Atmos Rider GCR - Rate Filing under Docket No. OS-24-00019196 - January 26, 2026 
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ADJOURN 

NOTE: The City Council reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session as authorized by 
Texas Government Code, Section 551.001, et seq. (The Texas Open Meetings Act) on any item 
on its open meeting agenda in accordance with the Texas Open Meetings Act, including, 
without limitation Sections 551.071-551.087 of the Texas Open Meetings Act. 

CERTIFICATION 

I certify that a copy of this meeting notice was posted on the bulletin board at City Hall that is 
readily accessible to the general public at all times and was posted on the City of Sanger 
website on January 27, 2026, by 1:40 PM. 

/s/Kelly Edwards                                           
Kelly Edwards, City Secretary 
 

The Historical Church is wheelchair accessible.  Request for additional accommodations or sign 
interpretation or other special assistance for disabled attendees must be requested 48 hours 
prior to the meeting by contacting the City Secretary’s Office at 940.458.7930. 
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City of Sanger, Texas
General Obligation Bonds Refunding Analysis

Issue Description: Tax-Exempt Current Refunding of Certificates of Obligation, Series 2015 & 2017
•
• Assumes NO CHANGE in Current Market Interest Rates
• Assumes  "AA+" Underlying Rating

Estimated Refunding Results & Rate Movement Sensitivity
Current Rates Rate Decrease Rate Increase

1/27/2026 of 25 bps of 25 bps
Total Savings $617,675 $832,925 $391,175
PV Savings $557,387 $753,042 $365,133
% PV Savings 4.58% 6.19% 3.00%

Refunded Par $12,160,000 $12,160,000 $12,160,000
"All-In" TIC 3.18% 2.93% 3.43%

Raymond James' Past Analyses
11/6/2025 1/7/2026 12/4/2025

Total Savings $571,681 $605,752 $554,556
PV Savings $518,583 $551,956 $508,638
% PV Savings 4.26% 4.54% 4.18%

Refunded Par $12,160,000 $12,160,000 $12,160,000
"All-In" TIC 3.22% 3.19% 3.25%

  Bonds to be Refunded
Principal Maturities Refunded Bonds
Refunded Refunded Call Date

Certificates of Obligation, Series 2015 $3,450,000 2027-2035 5/03/2026 @ par
Certificates of Obligation, Series 2017 8,710,000 2027-2037 5/03/2026 @ par

Assumed Delivery: 04/03/2026
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City of Sanger, Texas
General Obligation Bonds Refunding Analysis Assumed Delivery Date: 4/3/26

Debt Service Savings Report - Current Interest Rates Tax-Exempt Current Refunding

Fiscal Year Total Bonds to be Refunded Series 2026 Refunding Bonds Debt Service
ending 9/30 Principal Interest Total Principal Yield Interest Total Savings

2026 $238,050 $238,050 $238,050 $238,050 (1) $0
2027 $390,000 476,100 866,100 $265,000 2.400% 546,000 811,000 55,100
2028 875,000 454,725 1,329,725 740,000 2.420% 532,750 1,272,750 56,975
2029 900,000 421,200 1,321,200 770,000 2.450% 495,750 1,265,750 55,450
2030 940,000 386,194 1,326,194 815,000 2.510% 457,250 1,272,250 53,944
2031 975,000 349,200 1,324,200 855,000 2.570% 416,500 1,271,500 52,700
2032 1,010,000 310,938 1,320,938 890,000 2.640% 373,750 1,263,750 57,188
2033 1,055,000 271,206 1,326,206 940,000 2.740% 329,250 1,269,250 56,956
2034 1,420,000 229,713 1,649,713 1,310,000 2.820% 282,250 1,592,250 57,463
2035 1,475,000 173,656 1,648,656 1,375,000 2.940% 216,750 1,591,750 56,906
2036 1,535,000 115,344 1,650,344 1,445,000 3.040% 148,000 1,593,000 57,344
2037 1,585,000 63,400 1,648,400 1,515,000 3.160% 75,750 1,590,750 57,650

Totals $12,160,000 $3,489,725 $15,649,725 $10,920,000 $4,112,050 $15,032,050 $617,675

(1)    Includes an interest & sinking fund contribution of $174,350 Present Value Debt Service Savings: 557,387$      

PV Savings as a % of Refunded Principal: 4.58%

  Bonds to be Refunded
Principal Maturities Refunded Bonds
Refunded Refunded Call Date

Certificates of Obligation, Series 2015 $3,450,000 2027-2035 5/03/2026 @ par
Certificates of Obligation, Series 2017 8,710,000 2027-2037 5/03/2026 @ par

Analysis Dated: 01/27/26
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General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2026 

         

      

Su M Tu W Th F Sa Su M Tu W Th F Sa

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 15 16 17 18 19 20 21

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 22 23 24 25 26 27 28

29 30 31

February March

    

Su M Tu W Th F Sa

1 2 3 4

5 6 7 8 9 10 11

12 13 14 15 16 17 18

19 20 21 22 23 24 25

26 27 28 29 30

April

 
 

1.9.2026 
Date Activity Responsibility 

February 2 MA briefing to City Council MA, City 
February 13 Notice to bond holders submitted to Paying Agent MA, City, BC 
February 13 First draft of POS due UWC 
February 18 S&P rating call MA, City, RA 
March 4 Comments due on first draft of POS All 
March 5 S&P rating released RA 
March 6 Revised draft of POS circulated UWC 
March 10 Comments due on revised draft of POS All 
March 11 Underwriters’ Due Diligence Call All 
March 12 POS circulated UWC 
March 16 Price Bonds MA, UW, BC, UWC 
March 16 City at a Regular Meeting signs Bond Purchase Agreement (BPA) and 

adopts Ordinance authorizing issuance 
MA, City, BC  

March 18 Distribute initial draft of Official Statement UWC 
March 24 Print Official Statement All 
March 25 First draft of Funding Memorandum Circulated MA 
March 31 Final Funding Memorandum Circulated MA 
April 3 Closing & Funding All 

 
City  City of Sanger     Issuer 
MA  Government Capital Securities Corporation  Municipal Advisor 
BC  Jackson Walker LLP    Bond Counsel 
UW  Raymond James     Underwriter 
UWC  Naman Howell LLP    Underwriters Counsel 
RA  Standard & Poor’s    Rating Agency 
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

of the

City of Sanger, Texas

For the Year Ended

September 30, 2025
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14450 John F. Kennedy Blvd | Suite 240 | Houston, TX 77032 | Tel: 281.907.8788 | Fax: 888.875.0587 | www.BrooksWatsonCPA.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor and

     Members of the City Council

    City of Sanger, Texas:

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type 

activities, the discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 

information of the City of Sanger, Texas (the “City”) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2025, 

and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial 

statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely 

presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City 

of Sanger, Texas, as of September 30, 2025, and the respective changes in financial position and, where 

applicable, cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 

of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

The City’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 

and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 

fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 

or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as 

a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are issued.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 

and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material 

if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 

judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 

procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 

expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 

financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 

that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 

period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 

the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related 

matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note V.G. to the financial statements, due to the implementation of GASB 101, 

Compensated Absences, the City restated its beginning net position within governmental activities, 

business-type activities, component unit activities, and the water, sewer, and electric fund. Our opinion 

is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 

discussion and analysis, schedule of changes in net pension liability and related ratios, schedule of 

employer contributions to pension plan, schedule of changes in other postemployment benefits liability 

and related ratios, and general fund budgetary comparison information be presented to supplement the 

basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is

required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of 

financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 

historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 

information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 

which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and 

comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 

financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 

We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 

procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 

collectively comprise City of Sanger, Texas’ basic financial statements. The combining schedule by 

department for the proprietary fund is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required 

part of the basic financial statements. 

The combining schedule by department for the proprietary fund is the responsibility of management and 

was derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 

basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 

audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 

reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 

basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 

procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In 

our opinion, the combining financial statements are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to 

the basic financial statements as a whole.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 22, 2026 

on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 

compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and other 

matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 

financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the

effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 

integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 

City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

BrooksWatson & Co.

Certified Public Accountants

Houston, Texas

January 22, 2026
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City of Sanger, Texas
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A)

September 30, 2025

7

As management of the City of Sanger, Texas (the “City”), we offer readers of the City’s financial 

statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year 

ended September 30, 2025. 

Financial Highlights

 The City's total combined net position is $74,507,016 at September 30, 2025. Of this, $32,914,662

(unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to its citizens and 

creditors.

 At the close of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined fund 

balances of $24,083,496, a decrease of $547,505.  

 As of the end of the year, the unassigned fund balance of the general fund was $18,520,185 or 

114% of total general fund expenditures. 

 The City had an overall increase in net position of $8,974,058, which is primarily due to 

revenues exceeding expenses for both governmental and business-type activities.

Overview of the Financial Statements

The discussion and analysis provided here are intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic 

financial statements. The City’s basic financial statements consist of three components: 1) government-

wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) the notes to financial statements. This 

report also includes supplementary information intended to furnish additional detail to support the 

basic financial statements themselves.

Government-Wide Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the 

City’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets, liabilities, and deferred 

inflows/outflows with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net 

position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or 

deteriorating.  Other non-financial factors, such as the City’s property tax base and the condition of the 

City’s infrastructure, need to be considered in order to assess the overall health of the City.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the 

most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving 

rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses 
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City of Sanger, Texas
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, Continued 

September 30, 2025

8

are reported for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected 

taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 

supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that 

are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-

type activities). The governmental activities of the City include general government, public safety, public 

works, and culture and recreation. The business-type activities of the City include water, sewer and 

electric operations.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary 

government), but also the legally separate Sanger Industrial Development Corporation (“4A”) and the 

Sanger Texas Development Corporation (“4B”), for which the City is financially accountable. Financial 

information for these component units is reported separately from the financial information presented 

for the primary government itself.

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Funds may be considered as operating companies of the parent corporation, which is the City of 

Sanger. They are usually segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Sanger uses fund 

accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal reporting requirements.  

The two categories of City funds are governmental and proprietary.

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 

activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial 

statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable 

resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the year.  Such information 

may be useful in evaluating the City’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 

statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 

information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing 

so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing 

decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of 

revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this 

comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City of Sanger maintains three individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately 

in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
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City of Sanger, Texas
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, Continued 

September 30, 2025

9

expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the general, debt service, and capital projects funds. All 

three funds are considered to be major funds.

The City of Sanger adopts an annual appropriated budget for all funds. A budgetary comparison 

schedule has been provided to demonstrate compliance with the general fund budget.

Proprietary Funds

The City maintains two different types of proprietary funds. Proprietary funds are used to report the 

same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The 

City uses a proprietary fund to account for its public utilities. All activities associated with providing 

such services are accounted for in these funds, including administration, operation, maintenance, debt 

service, capital improvements, meter maintenance, billing and collection. The City's intent is that costs 

of providing the services to the general public on a continuing basis is financed through user charges in 

a manner similar to a private enterprise. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to 

accumulate and allocate costs internally among the City’s various functions. The City uses an internal 

service fund to account for administrative support services to other funds of the City. 

Component Units

The City maintains the accounting and financial statements for two component units. The 4A and the 

4B are both discretely presented component units displayed on the government-wide financial 

statements. 

Notes to Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full 

understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes 

are the last section of the basic financial statements.

Other Information

In addition to the basic financial statements, MD&A, and accompanying notes, this report also presents 

certain Required Supplementary Information (RSI).  The RSI that GASB Statement No. 34 requires is a 

budgetary comparison schedule for the general fund and schedules for the City’s Defined Pension 

Plan.  RSI can be found after the basic financial statements.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted previously, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the City’s financial 

position. For the City of Sanger, assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows 

by $74,507,016 as of September 30, 2025, in the primary government.  
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City of Sanger, Texas
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, Continued 

September 30, 2025

10

A large portion of the City’s net position, $34,340,623, reflects its investments in capital assets (e.g.,

land, city hall, police station, streets, and drainage systems, as well as the public works facilities), less 

any debt used to acquire those assets that are still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to 

provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although 

the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the 

resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the assets themselves 

cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of the City’s net position, $7,251,731, represents resources that are subject to 

external restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of $32,914,662 is unrestricted 

and may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to its citizens and creditors.

Long-term assets of governmental activities increased by $3,354,542 primarily due to greater capital 

asset balances, which is the result of new roadway improvements and purchase of public safety 

vehicles/equipment during the year.

Other liabilities of business-type activities decreased by $789,333 and is primarily attributable to fewer 

outstanding payables to vendors and timing of repayments during the current year.

Total long-term liabilities of the primary government decreased by $3,122,913 primarily due to 

principal payments made on long-term debt and a decline in the City’s net pension liability.

22

Item 3.



City of Sanger, Texas
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, Continued 

September 30, 2025

11

Statement of Net Position:

The following table reflects the condensed Statement of Net Position:

Current and

other assets $ 25,883,428 $ 22,652,619 $ 48,536,047 $ 26,746,021 $ 21,627,171   $ 48,373,192  

Long-term assets 34,098,411 52,948,427 87,046,838 30,743,869 51,221,002   81,964,871  

Total Assets 59,981,839 75,601,046 135,582,885 57,489,890 72,848,173   130,338,063

of Resources 932,495 255,689 1,188,184 817,654       272,625        1,090,279     

Other liabilities 3,288,806 3,433,603 6,722,409 3,167,989    4,222,936     7,390,925     

Long-term liab. 15,836,428 39,412,069 55,248,497 17,451,891 40,919,519   58,371,410  

Total Liabilities 19,125,234 42,845,672 61,970,906 20,619,880 45,142,455   65,762,335  

of Resources 249,313 43,834           293,147 118,504       14,545           133,049        

Net Position:

Net investment

in capital assets 20,281,776 14,058,847   34,340,623 16,792,681 10,828,242   27,620,923  

Restricted 4,627,950 2,623,781     7,251,731 4,058,537    3,461,094     7,519,631     

Unrestricted 16,630,061 16,284,601 32,914,662 16,717,942 13,674,462   30,392,404  

Total Net Position $ 41,539,787 $ 32,967,229 $ 74,507,016 $ 37,569,160 $ 27,963,798   $ 65,532,958  

2025

Def. Outflows

ActivitiesActivitiesActivities Total

Def. Inflows

2024

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Total

Governmental Business-Type
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City of Sanger, Texas
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, Continued 

September 30, 2025

12

Statement of Activities:

The following table provides a summary of the City’s changes in net position:

Revenues

Program revenues:

Charges for services $ 4,439,328 $ 11,809,446 $ 16,248,774 $ 2,824,610 $ 15,522,110 $ 18,346,720

Grants and contri. 1,365,862 3,750,153     5,116,015 966,465 -                     966,465

General revenues:

Property taxes 9,074,520 -                     9,074,520 8,777,206 -                     8,777,206   

Sales taxes 1,838,122 -                     1,838,122 1,643,141 -                     1,643,141   

Franchise & local taxes 485,144 -                     485,144 473,083 -                     473,083      

Investment income 635,658 389,020 1,024,678 622,104 446,874 1,068,978

Other revenues 427,275 214,649        641,924 216,945 79,200          296,145

Total Revenues 18,265,909 16,163,268 34,429,177 15,523,554 16,048,184 31,571,738

                                            

Expenses

General government 3,936,995 -                     3,936,995 3,504,862 -                     3,504,862

Public safety 7,302,986 -                     7,302,986 5,332,387 -                     5,332,387

Public works 2,171,707 -                     2,171,707 2,000,936 -                     2,000,936

Culture and recreation 1,031,765 -                     1,031,765 974,952 -                     974,952

Interest & fiscal chrgs. 696,118        1,181,001     1,877,119 731,793        1,206,352     1,938,145

Water, sewer, & electric -                     12,884,700  12,884,700 -                     12,866,631  12,866,631

Total Expenses 15,139,571 14,065,701 29,205,272 12,544,930 14,072,983 26,617,913

Change in Net Position

Before Transfers 3,126,338 2,097,567 5,223,905 2,978,624 1,975,201 4,953,825

Transfers 844,289        2,905,864     3,750,153   (1,403,155) 1,403,155 -                   

Total 844,289        2,905,864     3,750,153   (1,403,155) 1,403,155 -                   

Change in Net Position 3,970,627 5,003,431 8,974,058 1,575,469 3,378,356 4,953,825

Beginning Net Position 37,569,160 27,963,798 65,532,958 35,993,691 24,585,442 60,579,133

Ending Net Position $ 41,539,787 $ 32,967,229 $ 74,507,016 $ 37,569,160 $ 27,963,798 $ 65,532,958

For the Year Ended September 30, 2025

Business-Type

Government

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024

Total

ActivitiesActivitiesGovernment

Governmental Business-Type Primary

Total

Primary Governmental

Activities Activities
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Graphic presentations of selected data from the summary tables are displayed below to assist in the 

analysis of the City’s activities.

For the year ended September 30, 2025, revenues from governmental activities totaled $18,265,909. 

Property tax, charges for services, and sales taxes are the City’s largest revenue sources. Charges for 

services increased by $1,614,718 or 57% primarily due to nonrecurring building permits earned on new 

developments and greater ambulance services in the current year. Grants and contributions increased 

by $399,397 or 41% primarily due to an increase in roadway impact fees received in the prior year. Sales 

taxes increased by $194,981 or 12% primarily due to economic growth fueled by local purchases. Other 

revenues increased by $210,330 or 97% primarily due to gains on sale of capital assets in the current 

year. All other revenues remained relatively stable when compared to the previous year.

This graph shows the governmental function expenses of the City:

For the year ended September 30, 2025, expenses for governmental activities totaled $15,139,571. This 

represents an increase of $2,594,641 or 21% from the prior year. The City’s largest functional expense is 

public safety of $7,302,986, which primarily includes costs for the police department, animal control, 

fire department, and EMS services. Public safety expenses increased by $1,970,599 or 37% primarily as a 

result of greater personnel costs, as the City hired new patrol officers, added new fire department 

25

Item 3.



City of Sanger, Texas
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS, Continued 

September 30, 2025

14

positions, and approved pay raises during the year. General government increased by $432,133 or 12%

due to administrative support transfers to the internal service fund and greater hours worked by 

administrative employees during the year. Public works expenses increased by $170,771 or 9% due to 

asphalt repairs and engineering fees related to new developments in the current year. Culture and 

recreation expenses increased by $56,813 or 6% primarily due to new pay plan increases implemented 

in October of 2024. All other expenses remained relatively stable when compared to the previous year.

Business-type activities are shown comparing operating costs to revenues generated by related 

services.

For the year ended September 30, 2025, charges for services by business-type activities totaled 

$11,809,446. This represents an increase of $3,712,664 or less than 1% from the previous year. Grants 

and contributions increased by $3,750,153 or over 100% as a direct result of grant reimbursements from 

TXDOT for the I-35 relocation project in the current year.

Utility service expenses remained relatively consistent with the prior year. Interest and fiscal charges 

increased by $25,351 or 2%, and is also considered consistent.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS

As noted earlier, fund accounting is used to demonstrate and ensure compliance with finance-related 

legal requirements.

Governmental Funds - The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information of near-

term inflows, outflows and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the 

City’s financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of 

the City’s net resources available for spending at the end of the year.
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As of the end of the year the general fund reflected a total fund balance of $23,111,771. Of this, $23,344

is restricted for municipal court, $410,033 is restricted for tourism, $114,111 is restricted for library 

improvements, $196,329 for public safety, $27,289 is restricted for parks, $2,412,862 is restricted for 

roadway impact fees, and $1,239,934 is restricted for capital projects. In addition, $167,684 is committed 

for employee benefits. Unassigned fund balance totaled $18,520,185 as of yearend. The general fund 

increased by $383,154 primarily as a result of greater than expected revenues and less than anticipated 

expenditures.

The capital projects fund reflected an ending balance of $664,292, a decrease of $902,867. This decrease 

was a result of significant capital outlay expenditures recognized during the year.

The debt service fund reflected an ending balance of $307,433, a decrease of $27,792. This decrease was 

due to current year expenditures exceeding revenues.

Proprietary Funds - The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the 

government-wide financial statements, but in more detail.

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

There was a total positive budget variance of $638,549 in the general fund.  This is a combination of a 

positive revenue variance of $126,722, a positive expenditure variance of $497,447, and a positive

variance of $14,380 in other financing sources and uses. The most significant revenue variances were 

for licenses/permits and intergovernmental revenues. The net positive budget variance for the general 

fund was $638,549 for the year.

CAPITAL ASSETS

As of the end of the year, the City’s governmental activities funds had invested $34,065,411 in a variety 

of capital assets and infrastructure, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is included with the 

governmental capital assets as required by GASB Statement No. 34. The City’s business-type activities 

funds had invested $52,948,427 in a variety of capital assets and infrastructure, net of accumulated 

depreciation.

Major capital asset events during the current year include the following:

 I-35 relocation and aesthetics project investments totaling $3,512,172.

 AMR Metering system investments for $276,889.

 Marion Road arterial improvements totaling $372,302.

 Senior Center improvements for $253,007.

 Purchased four F-150 trucks in the police department totaling $297,374.
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 Purchased Axon software in car dash cameras for $210,091.

 Purchased public safety vehicles & equipment totaling $2,230,818.

 Purchased Chevrolet Silverado in the electric department for $99,443.

 Purchased modular building for fire services totaling $448,780.

 Roadway & street infrastructure improvements totaling $586,891.

 Purchased new blowers for wastewater treatment plant totaling $128,140.

More detailed information about the City’s capital assets is presented in note IV. D to the financial 

statements.

LONG-TERM DEBT

At the end of the current year, the City had total long-term debt (including premiums) outstanding of 

$54,228,745. The City made principal payments on outstanding bonds, notes, and leases of $2,204,035. 

More detailed information about the City’s long-term liabilities is presented in note IV. E to the 

financial statements.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET

The Mayor and City Council are committed to maintaining and improving the overall wellbeing of the 

City of Sanger and improving services provided to their public citizens. The City is considering

budgeting conservatively for the upcoming year and planning to maintain similar services.

CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Sanger’s finances for all 

those with an interest in the City’s finances.  Questions concerning this report or requests for additional 

financial information should be directed to the City Manager at the City of Sanger City Hall at 502 Elm 

Street, Sanger, Texas 76266.
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Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 24,066,985   $ 15,123,972   $ 39,190,957      

Restricted cash 126,428        -                    126,428           

Investments 595,027        765,159        1,360,186        

Receivables, net 978,844        5,170,918     6,149,762        

Inventory -                    1,592,570     1,592,570        

Due from component units 116,144        -                    116,144           

25,883,428   22,652,619   48,536,047      

Noncurrent assets:

Lease receivable, noncurrent portion 33,000          -                    33,000             

Capital assets

Non-depreciable 15,241,797   12,413,090   27,654,887      

Net depreciable capital assets 18,823,614   40,535,337   59,358,951      

34,098,411   52,948,427   87,046,838      

59,981,839   75,601,046   135,582,885    

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred charge on refunding 7,789 57,122          64,911             

Pension outflows 918,699        197,312        1,116,011        

OPEB outflows 6,007            1,255            7,262               

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 932,495        255,689        1,188,184        

See Notes to Financial Statements.

City of Sanger, Texas
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (Page 1 of 2)

September 30, 2025

Activities Activities

Primary Government

Governmental

Total

Business-Type

Assets

Total Assets

Total Current Assets

Total Noncurrent Assets
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$ 6,306,468 $ 3,127,280

-                          -                         

102,746 309,488

153,638 153,638

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

6,562,852           3,590,406           

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

259 -                         

259                     -                         

6,563,111           3,590,406           

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

Component Units

Sanger Industrial 

Dev. Corp. (4A) Dev. Corp. (4B)

Sanger Texas 
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Liabilities

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and

accrued liabilities $ 1,523,593     $ 1,152,398     $ 2,675,991        

Accrued interest payable 119,574        452,469        572,043           

Customer deposits -                    581,447        581,447           

Due to primary government -                    -                    -                       

Compensated absences - current 452,265        115,989        568,254           

Long term debt due within one year 1,193,374     1,131,300     2,324,674        

3,288,806     3,433,603     6,722,409        

Noncurrent liabilities:

Debt due in more than one year 13,084,138   38,820,019   51,904,157      

Compensated absences - noncurrent 120,233        26,755          146,988           

OPEB liability 143,102        30,735          173,837           

Net pension liability 2,488,955     534,560        3,023,515        

15,836,428   39,412,069   55,248,497      

19,125,234   42,845,672   61,970,906      

Deferred Inflows of Resources

OPEB inflows 27,815          5,974            33,789             

Pension inflows 176,281        37,860          214,141           

Lease related 45,217          -                    45,217             

249,313        43,834          293,147           

Net investment in capital assets 20,281,776   14,058,847   34,340,623      

Restricted for:

Debt service 307,433        -                    307,433           

Parks 27,289          -                    27,289             

Economic development -                    -                    -                       

Roadway impact fees 2,412,862     -                    2,412,862        

Capital improvements 1,136,549     2,623,781     3,760,330        

Other purposes 743,817        -                    743,817           

Unrestricted 16,630,061   16,284,601   32,914,662      

$ 41,539,787   $ 32,967,229   $ 74,507,016      

                                                               

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Current Liabilities

Governmental

Activities

Primary Government

Total

Net Position

Total Net Position

Total Liabilities

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Activities

Business-Type

City of Sanger, Texas

September 30, 2025

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (Page 2 of 2)

20
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$ 13,992 $ 14,951

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

58,072                58,072                

12,330                -                         

-                          -                         

84,394                73,023                

-                          -                         

3,166 -                         

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

3,166                  -                         

87,560                73,023                

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

259                     -                         

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

6,475,292           3,517,383           

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

-                          -                         

$ 6,475,551           $ 3,517,383           

                                                    

Dev. Corp. (4A) Dev. Corp. (4B)

Sanger Industrial Sanger Texas 

Component Units
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Capital 

Grants and

Contributions

Primary Government

Governmental Activities

General government $ 3,936,995      $ 3,209,673        $ 180,000       $ -                     

Public safety 7,302,986      1,229,655        206,514 -                     

Public works 2,171,707      -                       -                  979,348         

Culture and recreation 1,031,765      -                       -                  -                     

Interest and fiscal charges 696,118         -                       -                  -                     

15,139,571    4,439,328        386,514       979,348         

Business-Type Activities

Water 2,437,273      3,104,287        -                  -                     

Sewer 2,464,073      (674,211)          -                  3,750,153      

Electric 7,526,366      9,379,370        -                  -                     

Utility administration 1,637,989      -                       -                  -                     

Total Business-Type Activities 14,065,701    11,809,446      -                  3,750,153      

Total Primary Government $ 29,205,272    $ 16,248,774      $ 386,514       4,729,501      

Component Units

Sanger Ind. Dev. Corp. (4A) 400,345 -                       -                  -                     

Sanger Texas Dev. Corp. (4B) 349,145 -                       -                  -                     

$ 749,490         $ -                       $ -                  $ -                     

General Revenues:

Taxes

Property taxes

Sales taxes

Franchise and local taxes

Investment income

Other revenues

Gain on sale of capital assets

Insurance recoveries

Transfers

Change in Net Position

Beginning Net Position, as previously presented

Adoption of GASB 101

Beginning Net Position, as adjusted

Ending Net Position

See Notes to Financial Statements.

City of Sanger, Texas
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Operating

For the Year Ended September 30, 2025

Program Revenues

Total Governmental Activities

Functions/Programs Services

Total General Revenues and Transfers

Expenses Contributions

Charges for Grants and
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$ (547,322)            $ -                         $ (547,322)            $ -                           $ -                            

(5,866,817)         -                         (5,866,817)         -                           -                            

(1,192,359)         -                         (1,192,359)         -                           -                            

(1,031,765)         -                         (1,031,765)         -                           -                            

(696,118)            -                         (696,118)            -                           -                            

(9,334,381)         -                         (9,334,381)         -                           -                            

-                         667,014             667,014             -                           -                            

-                         611,869             611,869             -                           -                            

-                         1,853,004          1,853,004          -                           -                            

-                         (1,637,989)         (1,637,989)         -                           -                            

-                         1,493,898          1,493,898          -                           -                            

(9,334,381)         1,493,898          (7,840,483)         -                           -                            

(400,345) -                            

-                           (349,145)

(400,345)              (349,145)               

9,074,520          -                         9,074,520          -                           -                            

1,838,122          -                         1,838,122          909,167 909,167

485,144             -                         485,144             -                           -                            

635,658             389,020             1,024,678          148,564                75,702

328,051             214,649             542,700             -                           1,800                    

94,918               -                         94,918               -                           -                            

4,306                 -                         4,306                 -                           -                            

844,289             2,905,864          3,750,153          -                           -                            

13,305,008        3,509,533 16,814,541 1,057,731 986,669

3,970,627          5,003,431          8,974,058          657,386 637,524

37,932,640        28,066,154        65,998,794        5,827,419 2,879,859

(363,480)            (102,356)            (465,836)            (9,254)                  -                            

37,569,160        27,963,798        65,532,958        5,818,165             2,879,859             

$ 41,539,787        $ 32,967,229        $ 74,507,016        $ 6,475,551             $ 3,517,383             

                                                                                                                                   

Primary Government Component Units

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Activities

Governmental

Dev. Corp. (4A) Dev. Corp. (4B)Total

Business-Type

Activities

Sanger Industrial Sanger Texas
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Cash and cash equivalents $ 22,819,165   $ 641,249 $ 307,433

Restricted cash -                    126,428 -                      

Investments 595,027        -                    -                      

Receivables, net 739,124 186,151        33,776            

Lease receivables 52,793 -                    -                      

Due from component units 116,144        -                    -                      

$ 24,322,253   $ 953,828        $ 341,209          

Liabilities

Accounts payable and

accrued liabilities $ 961,752 $ 289,536        $ -                      

961,752        289,536        -                      

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Unavailable revenue

Property taxes 178,120        -                    33,776

EMS revenue 25,393          -                    -                      

Lease related 45,217          -                    -                      

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 248,730        -                    33,776            

Restricted for:

Municipal court 23,344          -                    -                      

Tourism 410,033        -                    -                      

Library 114,111        -                    -                      

Public safety 196,329        -                    -                      

Debt service -                    -                    307,433          

Parks 27,289          -                    -                      

Roadway impact fees 2,412,862 -                    -                      

Capital projects 1,239,934     664,292        -                      

Committed for:

Employee benefits 167,684        -                    -                      

Unassigned reported in:

General fund 18,520,185   -                    -                      

23,111,771   664,292        307,433          

$ 24,322,253   $ 953,828        $ 341,209          

See Notes to Financial Statements.                                                      

City of Sanger, Texas
BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
September 30, 2025

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Fund 

Balances

Assets

Service

Total Liabilities

Capital 

Total Fund Balances

Total Assets

Fund Balances

General

Debt

Projects Fund
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$ 23,767,847   

126,428        

595,027        

959,051        

52,793          

116,144        

$ 25,617,290   

$ 1,251,288     

1,251,288     

211,896        

25,393          

45,217          

282,506        

23,344          

410,033        

114,111        

196,329        

307,433        

27,289          

2,412,862     

1,904,226     

167,684        

18,520,185   

24,083,496   

$ 25,617,290   

                 

Funds

Total

Governmental
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Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $ 24,083,496   

Adjustments for the Statement of Net Position:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial

resources and, therefore, not reported in the governmental funds.

Capital assets - non-depreciable 15,241,797

Capital assets - net depreciable 18,621,272

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period

expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the governmental funds.

Property tax receivable 211,896

EMS receivable 25,393

Deferred outflows (inflows) of resources, represent a consumption (acquisition) of net position that 

applies to a future period(s) and is not recognized as an outflow (inflow) of resources 

(expense/ expenditure) (revenue) until then.

Deferred charge on refunding 7,789

Pension contributions 583,089

OPEB contributions 2,190

Pension outflows 203,756

Pension inflows (150,981)

OPEB outflows 2,991

OPEB inflows (23,823)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of internal services

to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds

are included in governmental activities in the statement of net position.

Net position - governmental activities (168,690)

Some liabilities, including bonds payable and deferred charges, are not reported as

liabilities in the governmental funds.

Accrued interest (119,574)

Compensated absences (467,593)

Bond premium (16,904)

Net pension liability (2,131,735)

OPEB liability (122,564)

Non-current liabilities due in one year (1,187,472)

Non-current liabilities due in more than one year (13,054,546)

$ 41,539,787

See Notes to Financial Statements.

City of Sanger, Texas
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
September 30, 2025

Net Position of Governmental Activities

27
39

Item 3.



Revenues

Property tax $ 7,526,421          $ -                      $ 1,624,485

Sales tax 1,838,122          -                      -                    

Franchise and local taxes 485,144             -                      -                    

License and permits 1,825,281          -                      -                    

Charges for services 1,384,392          -                      -                    

Fire and rescue 1,082,150          -                      -                    

Contributions and donations 107,790             -                      -                    

Intergovernmental 98,724               186,151          180,000

Fines and forfeitures 147,505             -                      -                    

Investment income 583,292             35,392 16,974

Roadway impact fees 793,197             -                      -                    

Other revenue 328,051             -                      -                    

16,200,069        221,543          1,821,459     

Expenditures

Current:

General government 3,760,495          -                      1,250

Police department 3,651,772          -                      -                    

Municipal court 231,812             -                      -                    

Fire and EMS 5,767,897          -                      -                    

Parks and recreation 795,624             -                      -                    

Public works 2,030,449          -                      -                    

Debt service:

Principal 4,439                 -                      1,129,700

Interest -                         -                      718,301

Capital outlay 25,902               1,616,448 -                    

16,268,390        1,616,448       1,849,251     

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (68,321)              (1,394,905)      (27,792)         

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers in 844,289             492,038 -                    

Transfers (out) (492,038)            -                      -                    

Sale of capital assets 94,918               -                      -                    

Insurance recoveries 4,306 -                      -                    

451,475             492,038 -                    

383,154 (902,867)         (27,792)

Beginning fund balances 22,728,617 1,567,159 335,225

$ 23,111,771        $ 664,292          $ 307,433        

See Notes to Financial Statements.                                                                    

Capital 

Ending Fund Balances

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Total Expenditures

Net Change in Fund Balances

General

Total Revenues

ServiceProjects Fund

City of Sanger, Texas
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

Debt

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended September 30, 2025
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$ 9,150,906         

1,838,122         

485,144            

1,825,281         

1,384,392         

1,082,150         

107,790            

464,875            

147,505            

635,658            

793,197            

328,051            

18,243,071       

3,761,745         

3,651,772         

231,812            

5,767,897         

795,624            

2,030,449         

1,134,139         

718,301            

1,642,350         

19,734,089       

(1,491,018)        

1,336,327         

(492,038)           

94,918              

4,306                

943,513

(547,505)

24,631,001       

$ 24,083,496       

                        

Total

Funds

Governmental
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Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are

different because:

Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds $ (547,505)

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the

statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated

useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. 

Capital outlay 4,968,491     

Depreciation expense (1,602,985)    

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial 

resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.

EMS receivable (170,149)       

Property tax receivable 93,763          

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of 

current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures 

in governmental funds.

Compensated absences (76,018)         

Accrued interest 8,405            

Pension expense (7,291)           

OPEB expense (20,674)         

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases, certificates of obligation)

provides current financial resources to governmental funds, while the

repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial 

resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any 

effect on net position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance

costs, premiums, discounts, and similar items when they are first issued; whereas,

these amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities.

This amount is the net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term

debt and related items.

Principal payments 1,134,139     

Amortization of deferred charges (907)              

Amortization of bond premium 14,685          

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of internal services 

to individual funds. The City reports the net gain (loss) of internal 

service funds within governmental activities. 176,673        

$ 3,970,627

See Notes to Financial Statements.                     

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities

For the Year Ended September 30, 2025

City of Sanger, Texas
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
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Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 15,123,972 $ 299,138

Investments 765,159 -                      

Receivables, net 5,170,918 -                      

Inventory 1,592,570 -                      

22,652,619     299,138          

Noncurrent Assets

Capital assets:

Non-depreciable 12,413,090 -                      

Net depreciable capital assets 40,535,337 202,342

52,948,427     202,342          

75,601,046     501,480          

Deferred charge on refunding 57,122 -                      

Pension outflows 197,312 131,854

OPEB outflows 1,255 826

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 255,689          132,680          

Total Noncurrent Assets

Total Assets

Water, Sewer

Assets

Service

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Internal

& Electric

Total Current Assets

City of Sanger, Texas
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (Page 1 of 2)

PROPRIETARY FUND

September 30, 2025

Activities

Governmental
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Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 1,152,398 $ 272,305

Accrued interest 452,469 -                      

Customer deposits 581,447 -                      

Lease liabilities - current -                      5,902              

Compensated absences - current 115,989 83,776

Bonds and leases liabilities - current 1,131,300 -                      

3,433,603       361,983          

Noncurrent Liabilities

Compensated absences - noncurrent 26,755            21,129

Lease liabilities - noncurrent -                      12,688

Net pension liability 534,560 357,220

OPEB liability 30,735 20,538

Bonds and lease liabilities - noncurrent 38,820,019 -                      

42,845,672     773,558          

OPEB inflows 5,974 3,992

Pension inflows 37,860 25,300

43,834            29,292            

Net investment in capital assets 14,058,847     183,752          

Restricted for capital improvements 2,623,781 -                      

Unrestricted 16,284,601     (352,442)         

$ 32,967,229     $ (168,690)         

See Notes to Financial Statements.                                             

Total Net Position

Net Position

Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Total Current Liabilities

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

PROPRIETARY FUND

September 30, 2025

Deferred Inflows of Resources

City of Sanger, Texas
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (Page 2 of 2)

Governmental

Activities

Water, Sewer Internal

& Electric Service
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Operating Revenues

Charges for services $ 15,113,178 $ 4,043,016

Connection fees 73,608 ‐                       

Tap fees 372,813 ‐                       

Other revenue 214,649 30,000             

15,774,248 4,073,016        

Operating Expenses

Salaries and wages 3,297,150 2,048,546        

Contracted services 1,027,171 1,282,625        

Utilities 372,284 118,206           

Materials and supplies 323,367 313,181           

Water and electric purchases 4,924,221 ‐                       

Repairs and maintenance 804,405 100,090

Depreciation 2,136,102 33,695

12,884,700 3,896,343        

2,889,548 176,673           

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Investment income 389,020 ‐                       

Interest expense (1,181,001)        ‐                       

(791,981) ‐                       

2,097,567         176,673           

 

Capital grants 3,750,153 ‐                       

Transfers (out) (844,289) ‐                       

5,003,431 176,673           

28,066,154 (225,756)          

(102,356)           (119,607)          

27,963,798       (345,363)          

$ 32,967,229       $ (168,690)          

                                                 

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Internal

Service

Governmental

Activities

City of Sanger, Texas
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUND

For the Year Ended September 30, 2025

Water, Sewer

& Electric

Ending Net Position

Total Operating Revenues

Total Operating Expenses

Change in Net Position

Operating Income (Loss)

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Income (Loss) Before Transfers

Beginning net position, as previously reported

Adoption of GASB 101

Beginning net position, as adjusted
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from customers $ 12,593,633        $ ‐                       

Receipts from interfund charges for administrative services ‐                        4,073,016        

Payments to suppliers  (9,025,388)        (1,742,537)       

Payments to employees (3,463,363)        (2,261,246)       

Receipts from (payments to) other funds 1,910                 ‐                       

106,792             69,233             

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities

Operating transfers (out) (844,289)           ‐                       

(844,289)           ‐                       

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Capital purchases (3,863,527)        (42,525)            

Capital grants 3,750,153          ‐                       

Principal paid on lease liabilities ‐                        (9,596)              

Principal paid on debt (1,060,300)        ‐                       

Interest paid on debt (including bond issuance costs) (1,322,338)        ‐                       

(2,496,012)        (52,121)            

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchases of investments, net (17,259)             ‐                       

Interest on investments 389,020             ‐                       

371,761             ‐                       

(2,861,748)        17,112             

17,985,720        282,026           

$ 15,123,972        $ 299,138           

                                                  

See Notes to Financial Statements.

 Net Cash Provided (Used) by Noncapital Financing Activities

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related Financing 

Activities

Ending Cash and Cash Equivalents

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Beginning cash and cash equivalents

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities

City of Sanger, Texas
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUND (Page 1 of 2)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2025

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities

& Electric

Water, Sewer

Governmental

Activities

Internal

Service
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Reconciliation of Operating Income

to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Operating Income / (Loss) $ 2,889,548        $ 176,673          

Adjustments to reconcile operating

  income / (loss) to net cash provided / (used):

Depreciation 2,136,102        33,695            

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

(Increase) Decrease in:

Accounts receivable (3,263,612)      -                      

Inventory (608,235)         -                      

Due from/to other funds 1,910               -                      

Other deferred outflows of resources - pensions 10,749             33,007            

Deferred inflows of resources - pensions 29,142             18,392            

Other deferred outflows of resources - OPEB (468)                (210)                

Deferred inflows of resources - OPEB 147                  (625)                

Increase (Decrease) in:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (965,705)         71,565            

Compensated absences (54,366)           (73,122)           

Customer deposits 82,997             -                      

Net pension liability (148,020)         (183,635)         

OPEB liability (3,397)             (6,507)             

$ 106,792           $ 69,233            

                                             

See Notes to Financial Statements.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities

PROPRIETARY FUND (Page 2 of 2)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2025

& Electric

Water, Sewer

Governmental

Activities

Service

Internal

City of Sanger, Texas
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I.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

A. Description of Government‐Wide Financial Statements 
 

The government‐wide  financial  statements  (i.e.,  the  statement of net position and 

the statement of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of 

the  primary  government  and  its  component  units.  Governmental  activities, which 

normally  are  supported  by  taxes,  intergovernmental  revenues,  and  other 

nonexchange  transactions,  are  reported  separately  from  business‐type  activities, 

which  rely  to  a  significant  extent  on  fees  and  charges  to  external  customers  for 

support. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from certain legally 

separate  component  units  for  which  the  primary  government  is  financially 

accountable. 

 

B. Reporting Entity 
 

The City of Sanger, Texas (the “City”) was incorporated in 1886 and operates under 

a Council‐Manager  form  of government. The City provides: general government, 

public  safety,  public works,  culture  and  recreation, water,  sewer,  and  electricity 

operations.  

 

The City  is an  independent political subdivision of the State of Texas governed by 

an  elected  council  and  a  mayor  and  is  considered  a  primary  government.  As 

required  by  generally  accepted  accounting  principles,  these  basic  financial 

statements have been prepared based on considerations regarding the potential for 

inclusion of other entities, organizations, or functions as part of the Cityʹs financial 

reporting entity. The Sanger Industrial Development Corporation (“4A fund”) and 

the Sanger Texas Development Corporation (“4B fund”), although legally separate, 

are considered part of the reporting entity. No other entities have been included in 

the  Cityʹs  reporting  entity.  Additionally,  as  the  City  is  considered  a  primary 

government for financial reporting purposes, its activities are not considered a part 

of any other governmental or other type of reporting entity. 

 

Considerations regarding the potential for inclusion of other entities, organizations 

or functions  in the Cityʹs financial reporting entity are based on criteria prescribed 

by generally  accepted  accounting principles. These  same  criteria  are  evaluated  in 

considering whether  the City  is a part of any other governmental or other  type of 

reporting  entity.  The  overriding  elements  associated  with  prescribed  criteria 

considered in determining that the Cityʹs financial reporting entity status is that of a 

primary government are that it has a separately elected governing body; it is legally 

separate;  and  is  fiscally  independent  of  other  state  and  local  governments.  
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Additionally,  prescribed  criteria  under  generally  accepted  accounting  principles 

include  considerations  pertaining  to  organizations  for  which  the  primary 

government  is  financially  accountable,  and  considerations  pertaining  to 

organizations  for which  the nature  and  significance of  their  relationship with  the 

primary  government  are  such  that  exclusion would  cause  the  reporting  entityʹs 

financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. 

 

Discretely Presented Component Units 

 

Sanger Industrial Development Corporation (4A)  

 

The  Sanger  Texas  Industrial Development  Corporation  (“4A”)  is  governed  by  a 

board of five directors, all of whom are appointed by the City Council of the City of 

Sanger and any of whom can be removed from office by the City Council at its will. 

The  4A  fund  was  incorporated  in  the  state  of  Texas  as  a  non‐profit  industrial 

development corporation under Section 4A of the Development Corporation Act of 

1979. The purpose of the 4A fund is to promote economic development within the 

City  of  Sanger.  Discrete  presentation  is  appropriate  because  the  Corporation’s 

Board is not substantially the same as the City. 

 

Sanger Texas Development Corporation (4B) 

 

The Sanger Texas Development Corporation (“4B”) is governed by a board of seven 

directors, all of whom are appointed by the City Council at its will. The 4B fund was 

incorporated in the state of Texas as a nonprofit industrial development corporation 

under Section 4B of the Development Corporation Act of 1979. The purpose of the 

4B  fund  is  to promote economic and  community development within  the City of 

Sanger. Discrete presentation is appropriate because the Corporation’s Board is not 

substantially the same as the City. 

 

C. Basis of Presentation Government‐Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 

While separate government‐wide and fund financial statements are presented, they 

are  interrelated.  The  governmental  activities  column  incorporates  data  from 

governmental  funds  while  business‐type  activities  incorporate  data  from  the 

government’s  enterprise  funds.  Separate  financial  statements  are  provided  for 

governmental funds and the proprietary funds. 

 

As  a  general  rule,  the  effect  of  interfund  activity  has  been  eliminated  from  the 

government‐wide financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payments 

in  lieu  of  taxes  where  the  amounts  are  reasonably  equivalent  in  value  to  the 

50

Item 3.



City of Sanger, Texas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued 

September 30, 2025 
 

39 

interfund services provided and other charges between the government’s water and 

transit  functions  and  various  other  functions  of  the  government.  Elimination  of 

these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the 

various functions concerned. 

 

The  fund  financial statements provide  information about  the government’s  funds. 

Separate  statements  for  each  fund  category—governmental  and  proprietary  are 

presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and 

enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental 

and  enterprise  funds  are  aggregated  and  reported  as  nonmajor  funds.  Major 

individual governmental and enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in 

the fund financial statements.  

 

The government reports the following major governmental funds: 

 

Governmental Funds  

 

Governmental  funds are  those  funds  through which most governmental  functions 

are typically financed. 

 

General Fund  

 

The general  fund  is used  to account  for all  financial  transactions not properly 

includable  in  other  funds.  The  principal  sources  of  revenues  include  local 

property  taxes,  sales  and  franchise  taxes,  licenses  and  permits,  fines  and 

forfeitures, and charges for services. Expenditures  include general government, 

public safety, parks and recreation and public works.  

 

Capital Projects Fund  

 

The  capital  projects  fund  is  used  to  account  for  capital  asset  activities  for 

governmental fund types. 

 

Debt Service Fund  

 

The  debt  service  fund  is  used  to  account  for  debt  service  activities  for 

governmental fund types. 

 

 

 

 

51

Item 3.



City of Sanger, Texas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued 

September 30, 2025 
 

40 

Proprietary Fund Types  

 

Proprietary  funds are used  to account  for activities  that are  similar  to  those often 

found  in  the private sector. All assets,  liabilities, equities, revenues, expenses, and 

transfers relating to the government’s business activities are accounted for through 

proprietary  funds.  The  measurement  focus  is  on  determination  of  net  income, 

financial position, and cash flows. Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues 

and  expenses  from  non‐operating  items. Operating  revenues  include  charges  for 

services. Operating  expenses  include  costs  of materials,  contracts, personnel,  and 

depreciation.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 

non‐operating  revenues  and  expenses.  Proprietary  fund  types  follow  GAAP 

prescribed  by  the  Governmental  Accounting  Standards  Board  (GASB)  and  all 

financial Accounting  Standards  Board’s  standards  issued  prior  to November  30, 

1989.  Subsequent to this date, the City accounts for its enterprise funds as presented 

by GASB. The proprietary fund types used by the City include enterprise funds. 

 

The government reports the following major enterprise fund: 

 

Water, Sewer, & Electric Fund  

 

This  fund  is  used  to  account  for  the  provision  of  water,  sewer  and  electric 

services to the residents of the City. Activities of the fund include administration, 

operations  and maintenance  of  the water  production  and  distribution  system, 

water  collection  and  treatment  systems,  and  electric  services.  The  fund  also 

accounts  for  the  accumulation  of  resources  for  and  the  payment  of  long‐term 

debt. All costs are financed through charges to utility customers. 

 

Additionally, the government reports the following fund type: 

 

Internal Service Fund 

 

Revenues and expenses related  to services provided  to organizations  inside  the 

City on a cost reimbursement basis are accounted for in an internal service fund. 

The Cityʹs  internal  service  fund was  set up  to provide  administrative  support 

services to other funds of the City. 

 

During  the  course  of  operations  the  government  has  activity  between  funds  for 

various purposes. Any  residual balances outstanding at year  end are  reported as 

due  from/to other  funds and advances  to/from other  funds. While  these balances 

are  reported  in  fund  financial  statements,  certain  eliminations  are made  in  the 

preparation  of  the  government‐wide  financial  statements.  Balances  between  the 
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funds  included  in  governmental  activities  (i.e.,  the  governmental  and  internal 

service  funds)  are  eliminated  so  that only  the net  amount  is  included  as  internal 

balances  in  the  governmental  activities  column.  Similarly,  balances  between  the 

funds included in business‐type activities (i.e., the enterprise funds) are eliminated 

so  that only  the net amount  is  included  as  internal balances  in  the business‐type 

activities column. 

 

Further,  certain  activity  occurs  during  the  year  involving  transfers  of  resources 

between  funds.  In  fund  financial  statements  these  amounts  are  reported  at gross 

amounts  as  transfers  in/out. While  reported  in  fund  financial  statements,  certain 

eliminations  are  made  in  the  preparation  of  the  government‐wide  financial 

statements.  Transfers  between  the  funds  included  in  governmental  activities  are 

eliminated so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the governmental 

activities column. Similarly, balances between  the  funds  included  in business‐type 

activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the 

business‐type activities column. 

 

D. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting  
 

The accounting and  financial  reporting  treatment  is determined by  the applicable 

measurement focus and basis of accounting. Measurement focus indicates the type 

of resources being measured such as current financial resources or economic resources. 

The basis of accounting indicates the timing of transactions or events for recognition 

in the financial statements. 

 

The government‐wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 

measurement  focus and  the  accrual basis  of  accounting. Revenues are  recorded when 

earned  and  expenses  are  recorded when  a  liability  is  incurred,  regardless  of  the 

timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year 

for which  they are  levied. Grants and  similar  items are  recognized as  revenue as 

soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

 

The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 

resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are 

recognized  as  soon  as  they  are  both  measurable  and  available.  Revenues  are 

considered  to be  available when  they  are  collectible within  the  current period or 

soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the 

government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days 

of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a 

liability  is  incurred,  as  under  accrual  accounting.  However,  debt  service 

expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences, and claims 
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and  judgments,  are  recorded  only  when  payment  is  due.  General  capital  asset 

acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Issuance of long‐

term debt and acquisitions under leases are reported as other financing sources. 

 

Property taxes, sales taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the 

current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been 

recognized  as  revenues  of  the  current  fiscal period. Entitlements  are  recorded  as 

revenues  when  all  eligibility  requirements  are  met,  including  any  time 

requirements,  and  the  amount  is  received  during  the  period  or  within  the 

availability  period  for  this  revenue  source  (within  60  days  of  year  end). 

Expenditure‐driven  grants  are  recognized  as  revenue  when  the  qualifying 

expenditures have been  incurred and all other  eligibility  requirements have been 

met, and the amount is received during the period or within the availability period 

for  this  revenue  source  (within 60 days of year end). All other  revenue  items are 

considered  to  be  measurable  and  available  only  when  cash  is  received  by  the 

government. 

 

E. Assets,  Liabilities,  Deferred  Outflows/Inflows  of  Resources  and  Net 
Position/Fund Balance 

 

1. Deposits and Investments 
 

The City’s cash and cash equivalents are considered  to be cash on hand, demand 

deposits and short term investments with original maturities of three months or less 

from  the date of acquisition.   For  the purpose of  the  statement of  cash  flows,  the 

proprietary  fund  types  consider  temporary  investments  with  maturity  of  three 

months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 

 

In  accordance with GASB  Statement No.  31, Accounting  and  Reporting  for  Certain 

Investments  and  External  Investment  Pools,  the  City  reports  all  investments  at  fair 

value, except for “money market investments” and “2a7‐like pools.”  Money market 

investments, which are short‐term highly liquid debt instruments that may include 

U.S. Treasury and agency obligations, are reported at amortized costs.   Investment 

positions in external investment pools that are operated in a manner consistent with 

the SEC’s Rule 2a7 of  the  Investment Company Act of 1940,  such as TexPool, are 

reported using the pools’ share price. 

 

The City has adopted a written  investment policy  regarding  the  investment of  its 

funds  as defined  in  the Public Funds  Investment Act, Chapter  2256, of  the Texas 

Governmental Code.   
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In summary, the City is authorized to invest in the following: 

 

 Obligations  of  the  United  States  Government,  its  agencies  and 

instrumentalities, not to exceed two years to stated maturity. 

 Fully collateralized certificates of deposit  from a bank doing business  in 

the State of Texas, not to exceed three years to the stated maturity. 

 Money market  funds authorized by  the Public Funds  Investment Act of 

the Texas Government Code Chapter 2256 

 Statewide investment pools 

 

2. Fair Value 
 

The  City  has  applied  Governmental  Accounting  Standards  Board  (“GASB”) 

Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application. GASB Statement No. 

72  provides  guidance  for  determining  a  fair  value  measurement  for  reporting 

purposes and applying fair value to certain  investments and disclosures related to 

all fair value measurements. 

 

3. Receivables and Interfund Transactions 
 

Transactions  between  funds  that  are  representative  of  lending/borrowing 

arrangements outstanding at the end of the year are referred to as either “interfund 

receivables/payables”  (i.e.,  the  current  portion  of  interfund  loans)  or  “advances 

to/from  other  funds”  (i.e.,  the  non‐current portion  of  interfund  loans).   All  other 

outstanding balances between  funds are reported as “due  to/from other  funds”  in 

the  fund  financial  statements.    If  the  transactions  are  between  the  primary 

government and its component unit, these receivables and payables are classified as 

“due  to/from  component  unit/primary  government.”  Any  residual  balances 

outstanding  between  the  governmental  activities  and  business‐type  activities  are 

reported in the government‐wide financial statements as “internal balances.” 

 

Advances  between  funds  are  offset  by  a  fund  balance  reserve  account  in  the 

applicable governmental  fund  to  indicate  they are not available  for appropriation 

and are not expendable available financial resources. 

 

All trade receivables are shown net of any allowance for uncollectible amounts. 

 

4. Property Taxes 
 

Property  taxes are  levied by October 1 on  the assessed value  listed as of  the prior 

January 1 for all real and business personal property in conformity with Subtitle E, 
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Texas Property Tax Code. Taxes are due on receipt of the tax bill and are delinquent 

if  not  paid  before  February  1  of  the  year  following  the  year  in which  imposed. 

Penalties are calculated after February 1 up to the date collected by the government 

at  the  rate of 6%  for  the  first month and  increased 1% per month up  to a  total of 

12%.  Interest  is calculated after February 1 at  the  rate of 1% per month up  to  the 

date  collected by  the government. Under  state  law, property  taxes  levied on  real 

property  constitute a  lien on  the  real property which  cannot be  forgiven without 

specific  approval  of  the  State  Legislature.  The  lien  expires  at  the  end  of  twenty 

years. Taxes levied on personal property can be deemed uncollectible by the City. 

 

5. Inventories and Prepaid Items 
 

The costs of governmental fund type inventories are recorded as expenditures when 

the  related  liability  is  incurred,  (i.e.,  the  purchase method).  The  inventories  are 

valued  at  the  lower  of  cost  or  market  using  the  average  cost  method.  Certain 

payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods (prepaid 

expenditures) are recognized as expenditures when utilized.  

 

6. Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets, which  include property, plant, equipment, and  infrastructure assets 

(e.g.,  roads,  bridges,  sidewalks,  and  similar  items)  are  reported  in  the  applicable 

governmental or business‐type activities columns in the government‐wide financial 

statements. Capital assets are defined by  the government, as assets with an  initial 

individual cost of more  than $10,000 and an estimated useful  life  in excess of one 

year.    Such  assets  are  recorded  at  historical  cost  or  estimated  historical  cost  if 

purchased  or  constructed.   Donated  capital  assets  are  recorded  at  estimated  fair 

market  value  at  the  date  of  donation.  Major  outlays  for  capital  assets  and 

improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. 

 

Interest  costs  incurred  in  connection with  construction  of  enterprise  fund  capital 

assets  are  capitalized  when  the  effects  of  capitalization  materially  impact  the 

financial statements. 

 

The  costs of normal maintenance and  repairs  that do not add  to  the value of  the 

asset or materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized. 
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Property,  plant,  and  equipment  of  the  primary  government,  as  well  as  the 

component units, are depreciated using the straight‐line method over the following 

estimated useful years.  

  

Asset Description 

  Estimated  

Useful Life 

Vehicles    5‐10 years 

Furniture and equipment    5 to 10 years 

Infrastructure    10‐30 years 

Water and sewer system    10‐30 years 

Buildings and improvements    5‐40 years 

 

7. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 

In  addition  to  assets,  the  statement  of  financial  position will  sometimes  report  a 

separate  section  for  deferred  outflows  of  resources.  This  separate  financial 

statement  element,  deferred  outflows  of  resources,  represents  a  consumption  of  net 

position  that  applies  to  a  future  period(s)  and  so will  not  be  recognized  as  an 

outflow of  resources  (expense/ expenditure) until  then. An example  is a deferred 

charge on refunding reported in the government‐wide statement of net position. A 

deferred  charge on  refunding  results  from  the difference  in  the  carrying value of 

refunded debt and  its  reacquisition price. This amount  is deferred and amortized 

over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 

 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 

separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement 

element,  deferred  inflows  of  resources,  represents  an  acquisition of net position  that 

applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 

(revenue) until that time. The government has only one type of  item, which arises 

only under a modified accrual basis of accounting, which qualifies for reporting in 

this  category.  Accordingly,  the  item,  unavailable  revenue,  is  reported  only  in  the 

governmental  funds  balance  sheet.  The  governmental  funds  report  unavailable 

revenues  from  two sources: property  taxes and EMS revenues. These amounts are 

deferred and recognized as an  inflow of resources  in  the period  that  the amounts 

become available. 

 

8. Net Position Flow Assumption 
 

Sometimes  the  government will  fund  outlays  for  a particular purpose  from  both 

restricted  (e.g.,  restricted  bond  or  grant  proceeds)  and  unrestricted  resources.  In 

order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted – net position and unrestricted 

– net position in the government‐wide and proprietary fund financial statements, a 
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flow  assumption  must  be  made  about  the  order  in  which  the  resources  are 

considered to be applied. 

 

9. Fund Balance Flow Assumptions 
 

Sometimes  the  government will  fund  outlays  for  a particular  purpose  from  both 

restricted  and  unrestricted  resources  (the  total  of  committed,  assigned,  and 

unassigned fund balance). In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted, 

committed,  assigned,  and  unassigned  fund  balance  in  the  governmental  fund 

financial statements a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the 

resources  are  considered  to  be  applied.  It  is  the  government’s policy  to  consider 

restricted fund balance to have been depleted before using any of the components of 

unrestricted  fund  balance.  Further,  when  the  components  of  unrestricted  fund 

balance can be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, 

followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is applied last. 

 

10. Fund Balance Policies 
 

Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the 

nature of any  limitations requiring  the use of resources  for specific purposes. The 

government itself can establish limitations on the use of resources through either a 

commitment (committed fund balance) or an assignment (assigned fund balance). 

 

The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only 

for the specific purposes determined by a formal action of the government’s highest 

level  of decision‐making  authority. The  governing  council  is  the  highest  level  of 

decision‐making  authority  for  the  government  that  can,  by  adoption  of  an 

ordinance prior  to  the end of  the  fiscal year, commit  fund balance. Once adopted, 

the  limitation  imposed by  the ordinance  remains  in place until a  similar action  is 

taken (the adoption of another ordinance) to remove or revise the limitation. 

 

Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the 

government  for  specific purposes  but do  not meet  the  criteria  to  be  classified  as 

committed.  The  governing  body  (council)  has  by  resolution  authorized  the  City 

Manager  to  assign  fund balance. The Council may  also  assign  fund balance  as  it 

does when appropriating  fund balance  to cover a gap between estimated revenue 

and  appropriations  in  the  subsequent  year’s  appropriated  budget.  Unlike 

commitments,  assignments  generally  only  exist  temporarily.  In  other words,  an 

additional  action  does  not  normally  have  to  be  taken  for  the  removal  of  an 

assignment.  Conversely,  as  discussed  above,  an  additional  action  is  essential  to 

either remove or revise a commitment. 
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11. Compensated Absences 
 

The  liability  for  compensated  absences  reported  in  the  government‐wide  and 

proprietary fund statements consist of unpaid, accumulated vacation and sick time 

balances. The liability has been calculated using the vesting method, in which leave 

amounts  for  both  employees  who  currently  are  eligible  to  receive  termination 

payments and other employees who are expected to become eligible in the future to 

receive  such  payments  upon  termination  are  included.  Vested  or  accumulated 

vacation  leave and compensated  leave of government‐wide and proprietary  funds 

are recognized as an expense and  liability of  those  funds as  the benefits accrue  to 

employees. 

 

It is the Cityʹs policy to liquidate compensated absences with future revenues rather 

than  with  currently  available  expendable  resources.  Accordingly,  the  Cityʹs 

governmental funds recognize accrued compensated absences when it is paid. 

 

12. Long‐Term Obligations 
 

In  the government‐wide  financial  statements,  long‐term debt and other  long‐term 

obligations  are  reported  as  liabilities  in  the  applicable  governmental  activities 

statement of net position. The  long‐term debt consists primarily of bonds payable 

and accrued compensated absences. 

 

Long‐term  debt  for  governmental  funds  is  not  reported  as  liabilities  in  the  fund 

financial  statements until due. The debt proceeds  are  reported  as other  financing 

sources, net of the applicable premium or discount and payments of principal and 

interest  reported as expenditures.  In  the governmental  fund  types,  issuance costs, 

even if withheld from the actual net proceeds received, are reported as debt service 

expenditures.   However, claims and  judgments paid from governmental funds are 

reported as a liability in the fund financial statements only for the portion expected 

to be financed from expendable available financial resources. 

 

Long‐term debt and other obligations, financed by proprietary funds, are reported 

as liabilities in the appropriate funds.  For proprietary fund types, bond premiums, 

and  discounts  are  deferred  and  amortized  over  the  life  of  the  bonds  using  the 

effective  interest  method,  if  material.  Bonds  payable  are  reported  net  of  the 

applicable bond premium or discount.  Issuance costs are expensed as  incurred  in 

accordance with GASB statement no. 65. 

 

Assets acquired under the terms of leases are recorded as liabilities and capitalized 

in  the government‐wide  financial statements at  the present value of net minimum 
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lease payments at inception of the lease. In the year of acquisition, lease transactions 

are  recorded  as other  financing  sources  and  as  capital outlay  expenditures  in  the 

general fund. Lease payments representing both principal and interest are recorded 

as expenditures in the general fund upon payment with an appropriate reduction of 

principal recorded in the government‐wide financial statements. 

 

13. Estimates 
 

The  preparation  of  financial  statements,  in  conformity  with  generally  accepted 

accounting  principles,  requires management  to make  estimates  and  assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 

of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 

could differ from those estimates. 

 

14. Pensions 
 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources 

and  deferred  inflows  of  resources  related  to  pensions,  and  pension  expense, 

information  about  the  Fiduciary Net  Position  of  the Texas Municipal Retirement 

System  (TMRS) and additions  to/deductions  from TMRS’s Fiduciary Net Position 

have been determined on  the  same basis as  they are  reported by TMRS. For  this 

purpose,  plan  contributions  are  recognized  in  the  period  that  compensation  is 

reported  for  the  employee, which  is when  contributions  are  legally  due.  Benefit 

payments and  refunds are  recognized when due and payable  in accordance with 

the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

 

15. Other Postemployment Benefits (“OPEB”) 
 

The  City  has  implemented  GASB  Statement  No.  75,  Accounting  and  Financial 

Reporting  for  Postemployment  Benefits  Other  Than  Pensions.  This  statement 

applies to the individual employers (TMRS cities) in the TMRS Supplemental Death 

Benefits (SDB) plan, with retiree coverage. The TMRS SDBF covers both active and 

retiree  benefits  with  no  segregation  of  assets,  and  therefore  doesn’t  meet  the 

definition of a trust under GASB No. 75 (i.e., no assets are accumulated for OPEB) 

and as such the SDBF is considered to be an unfunded OPEB plan. For purposes of 

reporting under GASB 75,  the retiree portion of  the SDBF  is not considered a cost 

sharing  plan  and  is  instead  considered  a  single  employer,  defined  benefit OPEB 

plan.  The  death  benefit  for  active  employees  provides  a  lump‐sum  payment 

approximately  equal  to  the  employee’s  annual  salary,  calculated  based  on  the 

employee’s  actual  earnings on which TMRS deposits  are made,  for  the  12‐month 
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period  preceding  the month  of  death.  The  death  benefit  amount  for  retirees  is 

$7,500.  GASB No.  75  requires  the  liability  of  employers  and  nonemployer 

contributing entities to employees for defined benefit OPEB (net OPEB  liability) to 

be measured as the portion of the present value of projected benefit payments to be 

provided  to  current  active  and  inactive  employees  that  is  attributed  to  those 

employees’  past  periods  of  service  (total OPEB  liability),  less  the  amount  of  the 

OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position. 

 

16. Leases 
 

Lessee:  The  City  is  a  lessee  for  a  noncancellable  lease  of  equipment.  The  City 

recognizes a lease liability and an intangible right‐to‐use lease asset (lease asset) in 

the government‐wide financial statements. The City recognizes lease liabilities with 

an initial, individual value of $5,000 or more. 

 

At the commencement of a lease, the City initially measures the lease liability at the 

present  value  of  payments  expected  to  be  made  during  the  lease  term. 

Subsequently,  the  lease  liability  is  reduced  by  the  principal  portion  of  lease 

payments made. The  lease asset  is  initially measured as  the  initial amount of  the 

lease  liability,  adjusted  for  lease  payments  made  at  or  before  the  lease 

commencement date, plus certain initial direct costs. Subsequently, the lease asset is 

amortized on a straight‐line basis over its useful life. 

 

Key estimates and judgments related to leases include how the City determines (1) 

the discount rate  it uses to discount the expected  lease payments to present value, 

(2) lease term, and (3) lease payments. 

 

•  The City uses the  interest rate charged by the  lessor as the discount rate. When 

the interest rate charged by the lessor is not provided, the City generally uses its 

estimated incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for leases. 

 

• The  lease  term  includes  the noncancellable period of  the  lease. Lease payments 

included  in  the  measurement  of  the  lease  liability  are  composed  of  fixed 

payments  and  purchase  option  price  that  the  City  is  reasonably  certain  to 

exercise. 

 

The City monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of 

its lease and will remeasure the lease asset and liability if certain changes occur that 

are expected to significantly affect the amount of the lease liability. 
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Lease assets are reported with other capital assets and lease liabilities are reported 

with long‐term debt on the statement of net position. 

Lessor:  The  City  is  a  lessor  for  a  noncancellable  lease  of  a  cell  tower.  The  City 

recognizes a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources in the government‐

wide and governmental fund financial statements. 

 

At the commencement of a lease, the City initially measures the lease receivable at 

the  present  value  of  payments  expected  to  be  received  during  the  lease  term. 

Subsequently,  the  lease  receivable  is  reduced  by  the  principal  portion  of  lease 

payments  received. The deferred  inflow  of  resources  is  initially measured  as  the 

initial  amount  of  the  lease  receivable,  adjusted  for  lease payments  received  at  or 

before  the  lease  commencement  date.  Subsequently,  the  deferred  inflow  of 

resources is recognized as revenue over the life of the lease term. 

 

Key estimates and judgments include how the City determines (1) the discount rate 

it uses to discount  the expected  lease receipts  to present value, (2)  lease  term, and 

(3) lease receipts. 

 

• The City uses  its estimated  incremental borrowing  rate as  the discount  rate  for 

leases. 

 

•  The  lease  term  includes  the  noncancellable  period  of  the  lease.  Lease  receipts 

included in the measurement of the lease receivable is composed of fixed payments 

from the lessee. 

 

The City monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of 

its lease, and will remeasure the lease receivable and deferred inflows of resources 

if certain changes occur  that are expected  to significantly affect  the amount of  the 

lease receivable. 

 

17. Subscription based information technology arrangements (“SBITA”) 
 

The City has adopted  the provision of Governmental Accounting Standard Board 

(GASB)  Statement  No.  96,  entitled  Subscription‐Based  Information  Technology 

Arrangements  (“SBITA”). When  implementing GASB 96,  the City records right  to 

use assets and subscription  liabilities based on  the present value of  the payments 

for the related arrangements. The assets will be included within capital assets, and 

amortized straight‐line over the term of the arrangement. The liabilities will accrue 

interest at  the  implied rate estimated by  the City, and are relieved with payments 

over the term of the arrangements. 
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II. RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT‐WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

 

A. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund balance sheet 
and the government‐wide statement of net position. 

 

The governmental fund balance sheet  includes reconciliation between  fund balance‐

total  governmental  funds  and  net  position‐governmental  activities  as  reported  in  the 

government‐wide  statement  of  net  position.  One  element  of  that  reconciliation 

explains that  long‐term  liabilities,  including bonds, are not due and payable  in the 

current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 

 

B. Explanation of certain differences between  the governmental  fund statement of 
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government‐wide 

statement of activities. 

 

The governmental  fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes  in  fund 

balances  includes  a  reconciliation  between  net  changes  in  fund  balances  –  total 

governmental  funds and changes  in net position of governmental states  that, “the 

issuance  of  long‐term  debt  (e.g.,  bonds)  provides  current  financial  resources  to 

governmental  funds,  while  the  repayment  of  the  principal  of  long‐term  debt 

consumes  the  current  financial  resources  of  governmental  funds.  Also, 

governmental  funds  report  the  effect  of  premiums,  discounts,  and  similar  items 

when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the 

statement of activities.”   

 

III.  STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

 

Annual  budgets  are  adopted  on  a  basis  consistent  with  generally  accepted 

accounting principles for all governmental and enterprise funds.  

 

The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function, and department. The legal 

level  of  control  is  the  fund  level.  No  funds  can  be  transferred  or  added  to  a 

budgeted  item without Council  approval. Appropriations  lapse  at  the  end of  the 

year. Budget amendments were only re‐classes at the function level and below and 

there  was  no  increase  in  budgeted  revenues  or  expenses  by  function  from 

amendments.  
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IV.  DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS  

 

A. Deposits and Investments 

 

As of September 30, 2025, the primary government had the following investments: 

 

Investment Type

Certificates of deposit $ 1,360,186 0.52

Total fair value $ 1,360,186

Portfolio weighted average maturity 0.52

Average Maturity

Value  (Years)

 
As of September 30, 2025, the 4A Component Unit had the following investments: 

 

Investment Type

Certificates of deposit $ 102,746 0.09

Total fair value $ 102,746

Portfolio weighted average maturity 0.09

Average Maturity

Value  (Years)

 
As of September 30, 2025, the 4B Component Unit had the following investments: 

 

Investment Type

Certificates of deposit $ 309,488 0.43

Total fair value $ 309,488

Portfolio weighted average maturity 0.43

Average Maturity

 Value  (Years)

 
 

Interest  rate  risk  –  In  accordance with  its  investment policy,  the City manages  its 

exposure to declines in fair values by limiting the weighted average of maturity not 

to exceed five years; structuring the investment portfolio so that securities mature to 

meet  cash  requirements  for  ongoing  operations;  monitoring  credit  ratings  of 

portfolio position  to  assure  compliance with  rating  requirements  imposed by  the 

Public Funds  Investment Act;   and  invest operating  funds primarily  in short‐term 

securities or similar government investment pools. 

 

Credit  risk  – The City’s  investment policy  limits  investments  to obligations of  the 

United  States,  State  of  Texas,  or  their  agencies  and  instrumentalities  with  an 

investment  quality  rating  of  not  less  than  “A”  or  its  equivalent,  by  a  nationally 

recognized  investment  rating  firm.  Other  obligations  must  be  unconditionally 

guaranteed  (either  express  or  implied)  by  the  full  faith  and  credit  of  the United 
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States  Government  or  the  issuing  U.S.  agency  and  investment  pools  with  an 

investment  quality  not  less  than AAA  or AAA‐m,  or  equivalent,  by  at  least  one 

nationally recognized rating service.  

 

Custodial credit risk – deposits In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event 

of a bank failure, the City’s deposits may not be returned to it.  State statutes require 

that all deposits  in  financial  institutions be  insured or  fully  collateralized by U.S. 

government obligations or its agencies and instrumentalities or direct obligations of 

Texas or its agencies and instrumentalities that have a market value of not less than 

the principal amount of the deposits. As of September 30, 2025, the market values of 

pledged securities and FDIC exceeded bank balances.  

 

Custodial credit risk – investments  For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event 

of the failure of the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its 

investments or  collateral  securities  that are  in  the possession of  an outside party.  

The City’s  investment policy  requires  that  it will  seek  to  safekeeping  securities at 

financial  institutions,  avoiding  physical  possession.  Further,  all  trades,  where 

applicable,  are  executed by delivery versus payment  to  ensure  that  securities  are 

deposited in the City’s safekeeping account prior to the release of funds.   

 

B.  Receivables 

  

1.   The following comprise trade receivable balances of the primary government at 

year end: 

 

Property taxes $ 205,528 $ ‐                       $ 38,055 $ ‐                    $ 243,583      

Sales tax 307,277           ‐                       ‐                      ‐                    307,277      

Franchise & local taxes 65,683 ‐                       ‐                      ‐                    65,683        

Hotel occupancy 34,600             ‐                       ‐                      ‐                    34,600        

EMS 925,721 ‐                       ‐                      ‐                    925,721      

Accounts 67,082 186,151           ‐                      1,761,772 2,015,005   

Grants ‐                       ‐                       ‐                      3,483,521 3,483,521   

Lease 52,793 ‐                       ‐                      ‐                    52,793        

Allowance (866,767)          ‐                       (4,279)             (74,375)         (945,421)     

$ 791,917           $ 186,151           $ 33,776            $ 5,170,918     $ 6,182,762   

Debt

Total& Electric

Water, SewerCapital

General ServiceProjects
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2. The following comprise trade receivable balances of the component units at year 

end: 

 

Sales tax $ 153,638        $ 153,638        $ 307,276       

$ 153,638        $ 153,638        $ 307,276       

Total4A 4B

 
 

3. The City  is  the  lessor  of  a  contract  in which  the City  receives  lease payments 

from AT&T for the use of an existing cell tower. The lease commenced on May 1, 

2018, with a term of 120 months. Monthly lease payments of $1,632 will be paid 

through April 1, 2023. The  lease payments  increase  to $1,795 per month  for  the 

duration of  the  lease  term, ending  in April 2028. As of September 30, 2025,  the 

lease receivable and offsetting deferred inflows amounted to $52,793 and $45,217, 

respectively.  

 

The  annual  principal  and  interest  payments  to  be  received  for  the  lease 

receivable are as follows: 

 

Year ending

September 30,

2026 $ 19,794              $ 1,750               

2027 20,601              944                  

2028 12,398              169                  

$ 52,793              $ 2,863               

Principal Interest (4%)

Governmental Activities

 
 

C. Inventory 

 

The following comprise the inventory balances of the primary government at year 

end: 

 

Inventory type

Electric Department $ 1,399,977

Water Department 192,593

Total $ 1,592,570

Cost

 
 

 

 

66

Item 3.



City of Sanger, Texas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued 

September 30, 2025 
 

55 

D. Capital Assets 
 

A  summary of changes  in governmental activities capital assets  for  the year end 

was as follows: 

 

Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land $ 13,409,922      $ ‐                       $ ‐                           $ 13,409,922      

Construction in progress 802,318           1,029,557        ‐                           1,831,875        

14,212,240 1,029,557        ‐                           15,241,797

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Infrastructure 22,154,573      618,537           ‐                           22,773,110      

Buildings and improvements 7,415,915        448,780           ‐                           7,864,695        

Subscription assets 120,990           ‐                       ‐                           120,990           

Right to use assets 72,649             ‐                       ‐                           72,649             

Machinery and equipment 6,054,432        2,914,142        (107,853)              8,860,721        

35,818,559 3,981,459        (107,853)              39,692,165

Less accumulated depreciation/amortiztion

Infrastructure 10,414,838      781,775           ‐                           11,196,613      

Buildings and improvements 4,066,495        344,469           ‐                           4,410,964        

Subscription assets 120,990           ‐                       ‐                           120,990           

Right to use assets 31,994             2,483               ‐                           34,477             

Machinery and equipment 4,705,407        507,953           (107,853)              5,105,507        

Total accumulated depreciation/amortization 19,339,724 1,636,680        (107,853)              20,868,551

Net capital assets being depreciated 16,478,835      2,344,779        ‐                           18,823,614      

$ 30,691,075      $ 3,374,336        $ ‐                           $ 34,065,411      

Beginning Disposals / Ending

Balances Increases

Total Capital Assets

Total capital assets not being depreciated

Total capital assets being depreciated

BalancesReclassifications

 

Depreciation was charged to governmental functions as follows: 

 

General government $ 111,493               

Police department 194,338               

Public works 792,370               

Culture and recreation 276,345               

Fire and rescue 228,440               

Internal service 33,694                 

$ 1,636,680           Total Governmental Activities Depreciation Expense
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A  summary of  changes  in business‐type activities  capital assets  for  the year end 

was as follows: 

 

Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land $ 4,022,009       $ ‐                      $ ‐                           $ 4,022,009     

Construction in progress 12,878,794     3,695,999     (8,183,712)         8,391,081     

Total capital assets not being depreciated 16,900,803     3,695,999     (8,183,712)         12,413,090   

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Infrastructure 55,333,918     52,438           8,183,712          63,570,068   

Buildings and improvements 1,526,712       ‐                      ‐                           1,526,712     

Machinery and equipment 2,560,868       115,090        ‐                           2,675,958     

Subscription assets 7,369               ‐                      ‐                           7,369             

Total capital assets being depreciated 59,428,867     167,528        8,183,712          67,780,107   

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization

Infrastructure 22,248,080     1,909,972     ‐                           24,158,052   

Buildings and improvements 748,897          86,767           ‐                           835,664         

Machinery and equipment 2,104,322       139,363        ‐                           2,243,685     

Subscription assets 7,369               ‐                      ‐                           7,369             

Total accumulated depreciation/amortization 25,108,668     2,136,102     ‐                           27,244,770   

Net capital assets being depreciated 34,320,199     (1,968,574)    8,183,712          40,535,337   

$ 51,221,002     $ 1,727,425     $ ‐                           $ 52,948,427   Total Capital Assets

Beginning Disposals / Ending

Balances Increases Reclassifications Balances

 

Depreciation was charged to business‐type activities as follows: 

 

Water $ 638,226

Sewer 1,226,537

Electric 271,339

$ 2,136,102          Total Business‐type Activities Depreciation/Amortization Expense
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A summary of changes in component unit (4A Component Unit) capital assets for 

the year end was as follows: 

 

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Furniture and fixtures $ 40,950           $ ‐                     $ ‐                         $ 40,950         

Total capital assets being depreciated 40,950           ‐                     ‐                         40,950         

Less accumulated depreciation

Furniture and fixtures 40,691           ‐                     ‐                         40,691         

Total accumulated depreciation 40,691           ‐                     ‐                         40,691         

Net capital assets being depreciated 259                ‐                     ‐                         259              

$ 259                $ ‐                     $ ‐                         $ 259              Total Capital Assets

Beginning Retirements/ Ending

Balances Additions Reclassifications Balances
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E.   Long‐term Debt 
 

The following is a summary of changes in the City’s total governmental long‐term 

liabilities  for  the  year  ended.  The  City  uses  the  debt  service  fund  to  liquidate 

governmental activities debts. 

Governmental Activities:

Bonds and certificates:

General Obligation Bonds $ 295,200       $ ‐                   $ (30,600)            $ 264,600        $ 31,200      

Certificates of Obligation 10,635,800  ‐                   (429,100)         10,206,700  452,500    

Tax Notes 4,419,000    ‐                   (670,000)         3,749,000    695,000    

Less deferred amounts:

For issuance premiums 31,589          ‐                   (14,685)            16,904          ‐                 

15,381,589  ‐                   (1,144,385)      14,237,204  1,178,700 

Other liabilities:

Lease liabilities 54,343          ‐                   (14,035)            40,308          14,674      

$ 15,435,932  $ ‐                   $ (1,158,420)      $ 14,277,512  $ 1,193,374 

Long‐term liabilities due in more than one year $ 13,084,138 

Business‐Type Activities:

General Obligation Bonds $ 2,164,800    $ ‐                   $ (224,400)         $ 1,940,400    $ 228,800    

Certificates of Obligation 36,534,200  ‐                   (835,900)         35,698,300  902,500    

Less deferred amounts:

For issuance premiums 2,452,276    ‐                   (139,657)         2,312,619    ‐                 

41,151,276  ‐                   (1,199,957)      39,951,319  1,131,300 

$ 41,151,276  $ ‐                   $ (1,199,957)      $ 39,951,319  $ 1,131,300 

Long‐term liabilities due in more than one year $ 38,820,019 

Total Business‐Type Activities

Amounts

Beginning Amortization/ Ending Due within

One Year

Total Governmental Activities

Balance Additions Payments Balance
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Long‐term debt at year end was comprised of the following debt issues:  

 

General Obligation Bonds:

$2,830,000 General Obligation Refunding Bond, Series 2021B, due in  

installments through 2033, interest at 0.25% to 2.13% $ 264,600        $ 1,940,000      $ 2,204,600    

$ 264,600        $ 1,940,000      $ 2,204,600    

Certificates of Obligation:

$1,750,000 Certificates of Obligation, Series 2007, 

due in annual installments through 2027, interest at 4.4% $ 86,700          $ 168,300         $ 255,000       

$5,025,000 Certificates of Obligation, Series 2023B, 

due in annual installments through 2053, interest at 4% to 5% ‐                     5,025,000      5,025,000    

$5,870,000 Certificates of Obligation, Series 2015, 

due in annual installments through 2035, interest at 3.4% to 5.5% ‐                     4,080,000      4,080,000    

$9,240,000 Certificates of Obligation, Series 2017, 

due in annual installments through 2035, interest at 3% to 4% ‐                     8,825,000      8,825,000    

$1,535,000 Certificates of Obligation, Series 2019, 

due in annual installments through 2026, interest at 3% to 4.75% 245,000        ‐                      245,000       

$18,615,000 Certificates of Obligation, Series 2021A, 

due in annual installments through 2046, interest at 2% to 4% ‐                     17,600,000   17,600,000 

$10,190,000 Certificates of Obligation, Series 2023C, 

due in annual installments through 2053, interest at 4.89% to 5.55% 9,875,000    ‐                      9,875,000    

$ 10,206,700  $ 35,698,300   $ 45,905,000 

Plus deferred amounts:

Issuance premiums $ 16,904          $ 2,312,619      $ 2,329,523    

$ 16,904          $ 2,312,619      $ 2,329,523    

Limited Tax Notes:

$5,065,000 Tax Notes, Series 2023, due in installments

through August 1, 2030, interest at 3.7% $ 3,749,000    $ ‐                      $ 3,749,000    

$ 3,749,000    $ ‐                      $ 3,749,000    

Total

Business ‐

Total General Obligation Bonds

Total Certificates of Obligation

Governmental Type

Activities Activities

Total Deferred Amounts

Total Tax Notes
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Long‐term Debt (Continued ):

Lease & Subscription Liabilities:

$ 40,308             $ ‐                      $ 40,308          

$ 14,277,512     $ 39,951,319   $ 54,228,831  Total Long‐term Liabilities

Lease for use of copier; with a term of 60 months; monthly 

payments of $1,331; optional renewal period; 4% interest

Type

Total

Governmental

Activities

Business ‐

Activities

 

Long‐term  liabilities  applicable  to  the City’s governmental  activities  are not due 

and  payable  in  the  current  period  and  accordingly,  are  not  reported  as  fund 

liabilities in the governmental funds.  Interest on long‐term debt is not accrued in 

governmental funds, but rather is recognized as an expenditure when due. 

 

The  annual  requirements  to  amortize  governmental  and  business‐type  activities 

debt issues outstanding at year ending were as follows: 

 

General Obligation Bonds 

 

General Obligation Bonds

Year ending

September 30,

2026 $ 31,200              $ 4,690                 $ 228,800            $ 34,395             

2027 31,800              4,341                 233,200            31,833             

2028 31,800              3,889                 233,200            28,521             

2029 33,000              3,390                 242,000            24,860             

2030 33,000              2,786                 242,000            20,431             

Thereafter 103,800            4,362                 761,200            31,992             

$ 264,600            $ 23,458              $ 1,940,400         $ 172,032           

Principal Interest Principal Interest

Governmental Activities Business‐Type Activities
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Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligations 

 

Year ending

September 30,

2026 $ 452,500            $ 548,126            $ 902,500            $ 1,254,461        

2027 214,200            528,387            935,800            1,228,481        

2028 180,000            518,130            1,010,000         1,195,331        

2029 190,000            509,328            1,060,000         1,157,756        

2030 200,000            499,828            1,100,000         1,117,950        

Thereafter 8,970,000         7,066,370         30,690,000      9,812,038        

$ 10,206,700      $ 9,670,169         $ 35,698,300      $ 15,766,017     

Principal Interest Principal Interest

Governmental Activities Business‐Type Activities

 
 

General obligation bonds are direct obligations of  the City for which  its  full  faith 

and  credit  are  pledged.  Repayment  of  general  obligation  bonds  are  from  taxes 

levied on all taxable property located within the City.  

 

Tax Notes 

 

Year ending

September 30,

2026 $ 695,000            $ 125,856           

2027 722,000            99,641             

2028 749,000            72,428             

2029 777,000            59,108             

2030 806,000            14,911             

$ 3,749,000         $ 371,944           

Principal Interest

Governmental Activities

 
 

Lease liabilities 

 

Year ending

September 30,

2026 $ 14,674             $ 1,303                  

2027 15,230             474                     

2028 10,404             156                     

$ 40,308             $ 1,933                  

Governmental Activities

Principal Interest
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The  City  entered  into  leases  to  finance  two  copier  machines.  The  property  is 

classified  as  right  to  use  assets  with  a  total  carrying  value  as  of  yearend  for 

governmental activities of $25,879.  

 

F.   Other Long‐term Liabilities 

 

The following is a summary of changes in the City’s other long‐term liabilities for 

the  year  ended.  In  general,  the  City  uses  the  general  fund  to  liquidate 

governmental activities compensated absences.  

 

Governmental Activities:

Compensated Absences $ 391,575       $ 386,602    $ (310,584)      $ 467,593       $ 368,489      

Compensated Absences in 

internal service fund 178,027       66,002       (139,124)      104,905       83,776        

Total Governmental Activities $ 569,602       $ 452,604    $ (449,708)      $ 572,498       $ 452,265      

Long‐term Liabilities Due in More than One Year $ 120,233      

Business‐Type Activities:

Compensated Absences $ 197,110       $ 106,840    $ (161,206)      $ 142,744       $ 115,989      

Total Business‐Type Activities $ 197,110       $ 106,840    $ (161,206)      $ 142,744       $ 115,989      

Long‐term Liabilities Due in More than One Year $ 26,755         

Component Unit Activities:

Compensated Absences $ 13,278         12,515       (10,297)        15,496          12,330        

Total Component Unit Activities $ 13,278         $ 12,515       $ (10,297)        $ 15,496          $ 12,330        

Long‐term Liabilities Due in More than One Year $ 3,166           

Amounts

Due Within

One Year

Beginning

Balance Additions Reductions

Ending

Balance

 

G.  Conduit Debt 
 

Before the current year, the City issued notes payable totaling $230,461,407 for the 

purpose  of  assisting  with  financing  needed  by  not‐for‐profit  organizations  to 

promote their cause. The final maturities on notes payable range from March 2019 

through December 2041. The notes are secured by various assets of the borrower. 

The  City  has  no  liability  for  the  notes  payable  in  the  event  of  default  by  the 
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borrowers.  Accordingly,  the  bonds  are  not  reported  as  liabilities  in  the  City’s 

financial statements. 

 

H.  Deferred Charge on Refunding 
 

Deferred charges resulting from the issuance of 2021B general obligation refunding 

bonds  have  been  recorded  as  a  deferred  outflow  of  resources  and  are  being 

amortized  to  interest  expense  over  the  terms  of  the  respective  refunded  debts. 

Current year balances for governmental and business‐type activities totaled $7,789 

and  $57,122,  respectively.  Current  year  amortization  expense  for  governmental 

and business‐type activities totaled $907 and $6,655, respectively. 

 

I. Interfund Transactions  
 

Amounts  transferred  between  funds  relate  to  amounts  collected,  various  capital 

expenditures, annual funding, and debt payments. 

 

Transfers (Out):

General $ ‐                    $ 492,038          492,038       

Water, sewer, and electric 844,289        ‐                      844,289       

Total $ 844,289        $ 492,038          $ 1,336,327    

TotalGeneral Projects

Capital

Transfers In:

 
The  internal  service  fund  provides  administrative  services  to  the  general  and 

water, sewer, & electric funds.  

 

Below  is a summary of the amounts paid from these funds to the  internal service 

fund for the year ended September 30, 2025: 

 

Paid by:

General  $ 2,021,508          

Enterprise 2,021,508          

$ 4,043,016          

 Internal Service 

Received by:
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As of September 30, 2025, the 4A and 4B component unit had a payable balance of 

$58,072, respectively, totaling $116,144, due to the primary government. 

 

Interfund balances  resulted  from  the  timing difference between  the dates  that  (1) 

interfund goods and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) 

transactions  are  recorded  in  the  accounting  system,  and  (3)  payments  between 

funds are made. All balances are expected to be paid in the subsequent year. 

 

J. Fund Equity  
 

The  City  records  fund  balance  restrictions  on  the  fund  level  to  indicate  that  a 

portion  of  the  fund  balance  is  legally  restricted  for  a  specific  future  use  or  to 

indicate that a portion of the fund balance is not available for expenditures.  

 

The following is a list of fund balances restricted/committed by the City: 

 

Municipal court $ 23,344              * $ ‐                        

Tourism 410,033            * ‐                        

Library 114,111            ** ‐                        

Public safety 196,329            * ‐                        

Debt service 307,433            ‐                        

Capital projects 1,904,226         ‐                        

Parks  27,289              ‐                        

Roadway impact fees 2,412,862         ‐                        

A.R.P grant ‐ public safety ‐                         ‐                        

Employee benefits ‐                         167,684           

$ 5,395,627         $ 167,684           

* Restricted by enabling legislation

** Restricted by donor

 Committed 

Fund Balance 

 Restricted Gov. 

Fund Balance 

 
 

V.  OTHER INFORMATION 

 

A. Risk Management 
 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and 

destruction of assets, errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the City 

participates  along with  over  2,700  other  entities  in  the Texas Municipal League’s 

Intergovernmental Risk Pools.   The Pool purchases commercial insurance at group 

rates for participants in the Pool.  The City has no additional risk or responsibility to 
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the  Pool  outside  of  the  payment  of  insurance  premiums.  The  City  has  not 

significantly  reduced  insurance  coverage  or  had  settlements  which  exceeded 

coverage amounts for the past three years. 

 

B. Contingent Liabilities 
 

Amounts  received  or  receivable  from  granting  agencies  are  subject  to  audit  and 

adjustment  by  grantor  agencies,  principally  the  federal  government.  Any 

disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of 

the applicable funds.  The amounts of expenditures which may be disallowed by the 

grantor cannot be determined at this time although the City expects such amounts, 

if any, to be immaterial. 

 

Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred, and the amount 

of  the  loss  can be  reasonably estimated.   Liabilities  include an amount  for  claims 

that have been incurred but not reported. Claim liabilities are calculated considering 

the  effects  of  inflation,  recent  claim  settlement  trends,  including  frequency  and 

amount of payouts, and other economic and social factors. 

 

C. Construction commitments 
 

The  government  has  active  construction  projects  as  of  September  30,  2025.  The 

projects  include  street  construction  and  improvements,  sewer  plant  and  the 

construction of additional water lines and repairs.  
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At year end the government’s commitments with contractors are as follows: 

 

various 147,017$                 Mayim Municipal

various 65,400                      KSA Engineers

various 262,524                   Alan Plummer Assoc.

Various Projects Totals 474,941$                

AMR Metering System 70,666$                   Aqua Metric Sales

Project Total 70,666$                  

Generators for Buildings 291,696$                 Power Standard

Project Total 291,696$                

WWTP Site Study 22,634$                   KSA Engineers

Various Projects Totals 22,634$                  

Total 900,937$                

Project

 Construction 

Commitment @ 

09/30/25 

Vendor

 
 

D. Arbitrage  
 

The  Tax  Reform  Act  of  1986  instituted  certain  arbitrage  consisting  of  complex 

regulations with  respect  to  issuance  of  tax‐exempt  bonds  after August  31,  1986.  

Arbitrage regulations deal with the  investment of tax‐exempt bond proceeds at an 

interest  yield  greater  than  the  interest  yield  paid  to  bondholders.  Generally,  all 

interest  paid  to  bondholders  can  be  retroactively  rendered  taxable  if  applicable 

rebates are not reported and paid to the Internal Revenue Service at least every five 

years  for  applicable  bond  issues.  Accordingly,  there  is  the  risk  that  if  such 

calculations  are  not  performed  correctly,  a  substantial  liability  to  the City  could 

result.  The City does anticipate that it will have an arbitrage liability and performs 

annual calculations to estimate this potential liability. The City will also engage an 

arbitrage  consultant  to  perform  the  calculations  in  accordance  with  Internal 

Revenue Service’s rules and regulations if indicated. 
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E. Defined Benefit Pension Plans 
 

1.   Plan Description 

 

The City of Sanger, Texas participates as one of 938 plans in the nontraditional, joint 

contributory,  hybrid  defined  benefit  pension  plan  administered  by  the  Texas 

Municipal Retirement System  (TMRS). TMRS  is an agency created by  the State of 

Texas and administered in accordance with the TMRS Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas 

Government  Code  (the  TMRS  Act)  as  an  agent  multiple‐employer  retirement 

system  for municipal  employees  in  the  State  of Texas. The TMRS Act places  the 

general administration and management of the System with a six‐member Board of 

Trustees.  Although  the  Governor,  with  the  advice  and  consent  of  the  Senate, 

appoints the Board, TMRS  is not  fiscally dependent on the State of Texas. TMRS’s 

defined  benefit  pension  plan  is  a  tax‐qualified  plan  under  Section  401  (a)  of  the 

Internal Revenue Code.  TMRS  issues  a  publicly  available  annual  comprehensive 

financial report (ACFR) that can be obtained at www.tmrs.com. 

 

All eligible employees of the city are required to participate in TMRS. 

 

2.  Benefits Provided 

 

TMRS  provides  retirement,  disability,  and  death  benefits.  Benefit  provisions  are 

adopted by the governing body of the city, within the options available in the state 

statutes governing TMRS. 

 

At retirement, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee’s contributions, 

with  interest,  and  the  city‐financed monetary  credits with  interest were  used  to 

purchase an annuity. Members may choose to receive their retirement benefit in one 

of  three payment options. Members may also choose  to  receive a portion of  their 

benefit  as  a  Partial  Lump  Sum Distribution  in  an  amount  equal  to  12,  24,  or  36 

monthly  payments,  which  cannot  exceed  75%  of  the  member’s  deposits  and 

interest. 

 

The  plan  provisions  are  adopted  by  the  governing  body  of  the City, within  the 

options available in the state statutes governing TMRS.  
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Plan provisions for the City were as follows: 

 

  Plan Year 2024  Plan Year 2023 

Employee deposit rate  7.0%  7.0% 

Matching ratio (city to 

employee) 

2 to 1  2 to 1 

Years required for vesting  5  5 

Service retirement eligibility 

(expressed as age / years of 

service) 

60/5, 0/20  60/5, 0/20 

Updated service credit  100% Repeating Transfers  100% Repeating Transfers 

Annuity increase (to retirees)  0% of CPI   70% of CPI  

 

Employees covered by benefit terms 

 

At  the  December  31,  2024  valuation  and  measurement  date,  the  following 

employees were covered by the benefit terms: 

 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits  43 

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits  53 

Active employees  97 

Total  193 

   

3.  Contributions 

 

The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee 

gross earnings, and the city matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, 

both as adopted by the governing body of the City. Under the state law governing 

TMRS,  the  contribution  rate  for  each  city  is determined  annually by  the  actuary, 

using  the  Entry  Age  Normal  (EAN)  actuarial  cost  method.  The  actuarially 

determined  rate  is  the estimated amount necessary  to  finance  the  cost of benefits 

earned by  employees during  the year, with  an  additional  amount  to  finance  any 

unfunded accrued liability. 

 

Employees  for  the City of Sanger were  required  to  contribute 7% of  their annual 

gross earnings during the fiscal year. The contribution rates for the City of Sanger 

were 12.65% and 13.31%  in calendar years 2024 and 2025, respectively. The City’s 

contributions to TMRS for the year ended September 30, 2025, were $1,108,834, and 

equal to the required contributions. 
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4.  Net Pension Liability 

 

The City’s Net Pension Liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2024, and 

the Total Pension Liability  (TPL) used  to  calculate  the Net Pension Liability was 

determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

 

Actuarial assumptions: 

 

The  Total  Pension  Liability  in  the  December  31,  2024  actuarial  valuation  was 

determined using the following actuarial assumptions: 

 

Inflation                 2.50% per year 

Overall payroll growth       3.60% to 11.85%, including inflation per year 

Investment Rate of Return     6.75%, net of pension plan investment expense,   

  including inflation 

     

Salary  increases  are  based  on  a  service‐related  table. Mortality  rates  for  active 

members are based on the PUB(10) mortality tables with 110% of the Public Safety 

table  used  for males  and  100%  of  the General  Employee  table  used  for  females. 

Mortality  rates  for  healthy  retirees  and  beneficiaries  are  based  on  the  Gender‐

distinct  2019 Municipal  Retirees  of  Texas mortality  tables.  The  rates  for  actives, 

healthy retirees and beneficiaries are projected on a fully generational basis by the 

most  recent  Scale MP‐2021  (with  immediate  convergence)  to  account  for  future 

mortality  improvements.  For  disabled  annuitants,  the  same mortality  tables  for 

healthy  retirees  are  used with  a  4‐year  set‐forward  for males  and  a  3‐year  set‐

forward for females. In addition, a 3.5% and 3.0% minimum mortality rate will be 

applied  to  reflect  the  impairment  for younger members who become disabled  for 

males and females, respectively. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis 

by  the most  recent  Scale MP‐2021  (with  immediate  convergence)  to  account  for 

future mortality improvements subject to the 3.5% and 3% floor.  

. 

The  actuarial  assumptions  were  developed  primarily  from  the  actuarial 

investigation  of  the  experience  of  TMRS  as  of  December  31,  2022.  They  were 

adopted  in 2023 and  first used  in  the December 31, 2023 actuarial valuation. The 

post‐retirement mortality assumption  for Annuity Purchase Rates  (APRs)  is based 

on  the Mortality Experience  Investigation  Study  covering  2009  through  2011  and 

dated December 31, 2013. Plan assets are managed on a  total return basis with an 

emphasis on both capital appreciation as well as the production of income in order 

to satisfy the short‐term and long‐term funding needs of TMRS..  
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The long‐term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined 

using a building‐block method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real 

rates  of  return  (expected  returns,  net  of  pension  plan  investment  expense  and 

inflation) are developed  for each major asset  class. These  ranges are  combined  to 

produce the long‐term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real 

rates  of  return  by  the  target  asset  allocation  percentage  and  by  adding  expected 

inflation.  In determining  their best estimate of a  recommended  investment  return 

assumption  under  the  various  alternative  asset  allocation  portfolios,  Gabriel, 

Roeder, Smith & Company (GRS) focused on the area between (1) arithmetic mean 

(aggressive) without  an  adjustment  for  time  (conservative)  and  (2)  the  geometric 

mean (conservative) with an adjustment for time (aggressive).  

 

The target allocation and best estimates of real rates of return for each major asset 

class in fiscal year 2025 are summarized in the following table: 

 

 

Asset Class  Target Allocation  Long‐Term Expected Real Rate 

of Return (Arithmetic) 

Global Equity  35.0%  6.7% 

Core Fixed Income  6.0%  4.7% 

Non‐Core Fixed Income  20.0%  8.0% 

Real Return  12.0%  8.0% 

Real Estate  12.0%  7.6% 

Absolute Return  5.0%  6.4% 

Private Equity  10.0%  11.6% 

   Total  100.0%   

 

Discount Rate: 

 

The  discount  rate  used  to measure  the  Total  Pension  Liability  was  6.75%.  The 

projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee 

and employer contributions will be made at the rates specified in statute. Based on 

that  assumption,  the  pension  plan’s  Fiduciary Net  Position was  projected  to  be 

available  to  make  all  projected  future  benefit  payments  of  current  active  and 

inactive  employees.  Therefore,  the  long‐term  expected  rate  of  return  on  pension 

plan  investments  was  applied  to  all  periods  of  projected  benefit  payments  to 

determine the Total Pension Liability. 
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Changes in the Net Pension Liability: 

 

Total Pension 

Liability (a)

Plan Fiduciary 

Net Position (b)

Net Pension 

Liability (a) – (b)

Balance at 12/31/23 $           17,499,390  $               14,173,311  $                    3,326,079 

Changes for the year:

   Service Cost              1,122,216                                 ‐                       1,122,216 

   Interest (on the Total Pension Liab.)              1,192,219                                 ‐                       1,192,219 

   Change in benefit terms                            ‐                                   ‐                                      ‐   

   Difference between expected and     

   actual experience                 335,271                                 ‐                           335,271 

   Changes of assumptions                            ‐                                   ‐                                      ‐   

   Contributions – employer                            ‐                        982,847                       (982,847)

   Contributions – employee                            ‐                        503,881                       (503,881)

   Net investment income                            ‐                     1,475,208                    (1,475,208)

   Benefit payments, including 

   refunds of emp. contributions               (795,980)                   (795,980)                                   ‐   

   Administrative expense                            ‐                           (9,445)                            9,445 

   Other changes                            ‐                              (221)                                221 

     Net changes              1,853,726                   2,156,290                       (302,564)

Balance at 12/31/24 $           19,353,116  $               16,329,601  $                    3,023,515 

 

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate 

 

The  following  presents  the  net  pension  liability  of  the City,  calculated  using  the 

discount rate of 6.75%, as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it 

were calculated using a discount rate that is 1‐percentage‐point lower (5.75%) or 1‐

percentage‐point higher (7.75%) than the current rate: 

 

1% Decrease Current Single Rate 1% Increase

5.75%  6.75% 7.75% 

$ 5,807,278                           $ 3,023,515                           $ 734,659                              
 

 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: 

 

Detailed information about the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in 

a  separately‐issued  TMRS  financial  report.  That  report may  be  obtained  on  the 

internet at www.tmrs.com. 
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5.  Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to 

Pensions 

 

For  the  year  ended  September  30,  2025,  the City  recognized  pension  expense  of 

$948,026. 

 

At September 30, 2025, the City reported deferred outflows and deferred inflows of 

resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

 

Difference between projected and 

investment earnings  $ ‐                                          $ (177,544)                          

Changes in actuarial assumptions ‐                                          (36,597)                            

Differences between expected and actual 

economic experience 288,995                            ‐                                         

Contributions subsequent to the 

measurement date 827,016                            ‐                                         

   Total $ 1,116,011                         $ (214,141)                          

Deferred Outflows

of Resources

Deferred (Inflows)

of Resources

The City  reported  $827,016  as deferred  outflows  of  resources  related  to pensions 

resulting  from  contributions  subsequent  to  the  measurement  date  that  will  be 

recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for the year ending September 

30, 2026.  

 

Other amounts  reported as deferred outflows and  inflows of  resources  related  to 

pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:  

 

Year ended December 31:

2025 $ 79,016              

2026 210,397            

2027 (137,835)           

2028 (76,724)             

2029 ‐                         

Thereafter ‐                         

$ 74,854              

 
F. Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions 
 

The  City  also  participates  in  the  cost  sharing multiple‐employer  defined  benefit 

group‐term life insurance plan operated by the Texas Municipal Retirement System 

84

Item 3.



City of Sanger, Texas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued 

September 30, 2025 
 

73 

(TMRS) known as the Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (SDBF). The City elected, 

by ordinance,  to provide group‐term  life  insurance  coverage  to both  current  and 

retired  employees.  The  City  may  terminate  coverage  under  and  discontinue 

participation in the SDBF by adopting an ordinance before November 1 of any year 

to be effective the following January 1.  

 

The  death  benefit  for  active  employees  provides  a  lump‐sum  payment 

approximately  equal  to  the  employee’s  annual  salary  (calculated  based  on  the 

employee’s actual earnings, for the 12‐month period preceding the month of death); 

retired  employees  are  insured  for  $7,500;  this  coverage  is  an  “other 

postemployment benefit,” or OPEB. 

 

The City contributes to the SDBF at a contractually required rate as determined by 

an annual actuarial valuation. The  rate  is equal  to  the  cost of providing one‐year 

term  life  insurance.  The  funding  policy  for  the  SDBF  program  is  to  assure  that 

adequate  resources  are  available  to  meet  all  death  benefit  payments  for  the 

upcoming  year;  the  intent  is  not  to  pre‐fund  retiree  term  life  insurance  during 

employees’ entire careers.  

 

Employees covered by benefit terms 

 

At  the  December  31,  2024  valuation  and  measurement  date,  the  following 

employees were covered by the benefit terms: 

 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits     30 

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits     17 

Active employees     97 

Total   144 

 

The City’s  retiree  contribution  rates  to  the TMRS SDBF  for  the years ended 2025, 

2024 and 2023 are as follows: 

 

Plan/ 

Calendar Year 

Annual 

Required 

Contribution 

(Rate) 

Actual 

Contribution 

Made 

(Rate) 

Percentage of 

ARC 

Contributed 

2023  0.05%  0.05%  100.0% 

2024  0.06%  0.06%  100.0% 

2025  0.05%  0.05%  100.0% 
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The City’s contributions to the TMRS SDBF for the years ended 2025, 2024, and 2023 

were  $3,330,  $3,169,  and  $2,246,  respectively,  which  equaled  the  required 

contributions each year. 

 

Total OPEB Liability 

 

The  City’s  Postemployment  Benefits  Other  Than  Pensions  Liability  (OPEB) was 

measured as of December 31, 2024, and the Total OPEB Liability was determined by 

an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

 

Actuarial assumptions: 

 

The  Total  OPEB  Liability  in  the  December  31,  2024  actuarial  valuation  was 

determined using the following actuarial assumptions: 

 

Inflation                           2.50% per year 

Overall payroll growth   3.60%  to  11.85%,  including  inflation  per 

year 

Discount rate                        4.08% 

Retirees’ share of benefit‐related costs    $0 

Administrative expenses  All  administrative  expenses  are  paid 

through  the Pension Trust and accounted 

for  under  reporting  requirements  under 

GASB Statement No. 68 

 

Salary  increases were  based  on  a  service‐related  table. Mortality  rates  for  active 

members,  retirees,  and  beneficiaries  were  based  on  the  gender‐distinct  2019 

Municipal Retirees  of Texas Mortality Tables. Male  rates  are multiplied  by  103% 

and  female  rates  are  multiplied  by  105%.  The  rates  are  projected  on  a  fully 

generational basis by the most recent Scale MP‐2021 (with immediate convergence) 

to  account  for  future  mortality  improvements.  For  disabled  annuitants,  the 

mortality  tables  for healthy  retirees  are used with  a  4‐year  set‐forward  for males 

and  a  3‐year  set‐forward  for  females.  In  addition,  a  3.5%  and  3%  minimum 

mortality rate will be applied to reflect the  impairment for younger members who 

become  disabled  for  males  and  females.  The  rates  are  projected  on  a  fully 

generational basis by the most recent Scale MP=2021 (with immediate convergence) 

to account for future mortality improvements subject to the 3.5% and 3% floor. 
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Discount Rate: 

 

The  discount  rate  used  to  measure  the  Total  OPEB  Liability  was  4.08%.  The 

discount rate was based on the Fidelity Index’s “20‐Year Municipal GO AA Index” 

rate as of December 31, 2024. 

 

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

 

The  following  presents  the  total OPEB  liability  of  the City,  calculated  using  the 

discount rate of 4.08%, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability (asset) would 

be  if  it  were  calculated  using  a  discount  rate  that  is  1‐percentage‐point  lower 

(3.08%) or 1‐percentage‐point higher (5.08%) than the current rate: 

 

$ 212,580                      $ 173,837                          $ 144,230                  

1% Decrease

(3.08%)

Current Single Rate

4.08%

1% Increase

(5.08%)

 
 

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability: 

 

Total OPEB 

Liability

Balance at 12/31/23 $                        166,321 

Changes for the year:

   Service Cost                           13,677 

   Interest                             6,447 

   Change in benefit terms                                    ‐   

   Difference between expected and     

   actual experience                             2,677 

   Changes of assumptions                         (10,966)

   Benefit payments                           (4,319)

     Net changes                             7,516 

Balance at 12/31/24 $                        173,837 
 

 

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of  

Resources Related to OPEB 

 

For  the  year  ended  September  30,  2025,  the  City  recognized  OPEB  expense  of 

$14,059. 
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At  September  30,  2025,  the  City  reported  deferred  outflows  of  resources  and 

deferred  inflows  of  resources  related  to  the  OPEB  liability  from  the  following 

sources: 

 

Differences between expected and

  actual economic experience
$                             4,242  $                                    ‐   

Changes in assumptions                                    ‐                            (33,789)

Contributions subsequent to

measurement date                             3,020                                     ‐   

Total $                             7,262  $                         (33,789)

Deferred Outflows

of Resources

Deferred (Inflows)

of Resources

 
The  City  reported  $3,020  as  deferred  outflows  of  resources  related  to  pensions 

resulting  from  contributions  subsequent  to  the  measurement  date  that  will  be 

recognized as a reduction of  the OPEB  liability  for  the year ending September 30, 

2026.  

 

Other amounts  reported as deferred outflows and  inflows of  resources  related  to 

OPEB will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 

Year ended December 31:

2025 $ (5,094)               

2026 (5,575)               

2027 (10,085)             

2028 (7,531)               

2029 (1,262)               

Thereafter ‐                         

$ (29,547)             

 
 

G. Restatements 
 

Due  to  the  implementation  of GASB  101, Compensated Absences,  the City  restated 

beginning  net  position/fund  balance  for  governmental  activities,  business‐type 

activities,  component‐unit  activities,  and  the water,  sewer,  and  electric  fund. The 

restatements are summarized on the next page.  
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$ 37,932,640        $ 28,066,154    $ 28,066,154   

   Implemenation of GASB 101 (363,480)            (102,356)        (102,356)       

$ 37,569,160        $ 27,963,798    $ 27,963,798   

Prior year ending net position/fund 

balance, as reported

Restated beginning net position/fund 

balance

Electric Fund

Governmental

Activities

Business‐type

Activities

Water, Sewer

 
 

$ 8,707,278             $ 5,827,419           

   Implemenation of GASB 101 (9,254)                    (9,254)                  

$ 8,698,024             $ 5,818,165           

Prior year ending net position/fund 

balance, as reported

Restated beginning net position/fund 

balance

Component‐Unit

Activities

Sanger Indust.

Dev. Corp (4A)

 
 

H. New Accounting Standards 
 

The City adopted GASB 101, Compensated Absences, during  the year. The goal of  the 

standard is to create a more consistent model for accounting for compensated absences 

that can be applied to all types of compensated absence arrangements.  

The  new  guidance  introduces  three  criteria  for  recording  a  liability  in  financial 

statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus (often referred 

to as a “full accrual” basis). A liability should be recognized for leave that has not been 

used if all of the following are true: 

 The leave is attributable to services already rendered.  

 The leave accumulates. 

 The  leave  is more  likely  than not  to be used  for  time off or otherwise paid  in 

cash or settled through noncash means (likelihood of more than 50 percent). 

This  standard  was  applied  retroactively  and  resulted  in  a  sick  leave  liability  of 

$316,554, which was included within compensated absences as of September 30, 2025. 

 

I. Subsequent Events 
 

There were no subsequent events warranting disclosure through January 22, 2026, 

the date the financial statements were available to be issued. 
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Revenues

Property tax $ 7,715,872 $ 7,715,872 $ 7,526,421     $ (189,451)        

Sales tax 1,943,000 1,943,000 1,838,122     (104,878)        

Franchise and local taxes 553,950 400,950 485,144        84,194            

License and permits 459,250 659,250 1,825,281     1,166,031       

Charges for services 1,427,850 1,427,850 1,384,392 (43,458)          

Fire and rescue 885,947 885,947 1,082,150 196,203          

Contributions and donations 57,170 154,699 107,790        (46,909)          

Intergovernmental 2,053,803 2,053,803 98,724          (1,955,079)     

Fines and forfeitures 196,926 196,926 147,505        (49,421)          

Investment income 418,150 418,150 583,292        165,142          

Roadway impact fees 100,000 100,000 793,197 693,197          

Other revenue 116,900 116,900 328,051 211,151          

15,928,818   16,073,347   16,200,069   126,722          

Expenditures

Current:

General government 3,741,641 3,741,641 3,760,495 (18,854)          

Police department 3,798,189 3,927,138 3,651,772     275,366          

Municipal court 283,894 283,894 231,812        52,082            

Fire and EMS 5,626,104 5,626,104 5,767,897     (141,793)        

Parks and recreation 964,390 964,390 795,624        168,766          

Public works 1,991,170 2,191,170 2,030,449     160,721          

Debt service:

Principal -                    -                    4,439            (4,439)            

Capital outlay 31,500 31,500 25,902          5,598              

16,436,888   16,765,837   16,268,390   497,447          

Revenues Over (Under) 

Expenditures $ (508,070)       $ (692,490)       $ (68,321)         $ 624,169          

Final Budget

Total Expenditures

Actual

Total Revenues

Original 

Budget

City of Sanger, Texas
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL- GENERAL FUND (Page 1 of 2)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2025

Variance with

Final Budget
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Transfers in $ 1,144,289 $ 1,144,289 $ 844,289        $ (300,000)        

Transfers (out) (757,194)       (757,194)       (492,038)       265,156          

Sale of capital assets 25,000 25,000 94,918 69,918            

Insurance recoveries 25,000 25,000          4,306 (20,694)

437,095 437,095 451,475        14,380

Net Change in Fund Balance $ (70,975)         $ (255,395)       383,154        $ 638,549          

Beginning fund balance 22,728,617

$ 23,111,771

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

1. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

Ending Fund Balance

Total Other Financing Sources 

(Uses)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Original 

Budget

Variance with

Actual Final BudgetFinal Budget

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL- GENERAL FUND (Page 2 of 2)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2025

City of Sanger, Texas
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Total pension liability

Service cost $ 1,122,216     $ 893,655        $ 776,119        $ 579,590        

Interest (on the Total Pension Liability) 1,192,219     1,090,782     1,028,630     845,902        

Changes in benefit terms -                    -                    1,680,179     -                    

Differences between expected and actual 

experience 335,271        221,273        (260,060)       70,056          

Changes of assumptions -                    (66,111)         -                    -                    

Benefit payments, including refunds of 

participant contributions (795,980)       (706,224)       (659,161)       (474,649)       

Net change in total pension liability 1,853,726     1,433,375     2,565,707     1,020,899     

Total pension liability - beginning 17,499,390   16,066,015   13,500,308   12,479,409   

Total pension liability - ending (a) $ 19,353,116   $ 17,499,390   $ 16,066,015   $ 13,500,308   

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions - employer $ 982,847        $ 773,936        $ 449,999        $ 401,724        

Contributions - members 503,881        423,246        317,647        281,582        

Net investment income (loss) 1,475,208     1,422,148     (958,693)       1,491,263     

Benefit payments, including refunds of 

participant contributions (795,980)       (706,224)       (659,161)       (474,649)       

Administrative expenses (9,445)           (9,034)           (8,286)           (6,891)           

Other (221)              (63)                9,888            47                 

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 2,156,290     1,904,009     (848,606)       1,693,076     

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 14,173,311   12,269,302   13,117,908   11,424,832   

Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) $ 16,329,601   $ 14,173,311   $ 12,269,302   $ 13,117,908   

$ 3,023,515     $ 3,326,079     $ 3,796,713     $ 382,400        

84.38% 80.99% 76.37% 97.17%

Covered payroll $ 7,198,306     $ 6,046,378     $ 5,294,125     $ 4,693,038     

42.00% 55.01% 71.72% 8.15%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 

of the total pension liability

Fund's net position as a percentage of 

covered payroll

Fund's net pension liability - ending (a) - 

(b)

2024

City of Sanger, Texas

Years ended December 31,

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

202120222023
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$ 547,534        $ 498,768        $ 462,521        $ 438,324      $ 408,943      $ 369,950      

780,457        709,455        648,013        590,632      545,333      521,853      

-                    -                    -                    -                  -                  -                  

38,473          89,057          93,857          38,794        (78,516)       (89,808)       

-                    92,583          -                    -                  -                  47,847        

(351,235)       (373,476)       (251,071)       (208,451)     (230,245)     (260,514)     

1,015,229     1,016,387     953,320        859,299      645,515      589,328      

11,464,180   10,447,793   9,494,473     8,635,174   7,989,659   7,400,331   

$ 12,479,409   $ 11,464,180   $ 10,447,793   $ 9,494,473   $ 8,635,174   $ 7,989,659   

$ 359,731        $ 321,275        $ 294,606        $ 276,169      $ 240,177      $ 231,097      

264,509        243,698        226,912        217,171      202,113      195,568      

787,844        1,365,511     (264,466)       1,040,205   461,955      9,831          

(351,235)       (373,476)       (251,071)       (208,451)     (230,245)     (260,514)     

(5,093)           (7,705)           (5,106)           (5,387)         (5,214)         (5,988)         

(199)              (231)              (267)              (273)            (281)            (296)            

1,055,557     1,549,072     608               1,319,434   668,505      169,698      

10,369,275   8,820,203     8,819,595     7,500,161   6,831,656   6,661,957   

$ 11,424,832   $ 10,369,275   $ 8,820,203     $ 8,819,595   $ 7,500,161   $ 6,831,655   

$ 1,054,577     $ 1,094,905     $ 1,627,590     $ 674,878      $ 1,135,013   $ 1,158,004   

91.55% 90.45% 84.42% 92.89% 86.86% 85.51%

$ 4,408,488     $ 4,061,633     $ 3,781,589     $ 3,619,524   $ 3,368,554   $ 3,259,471   

23.92% 26.96% 43.04% 18.65% 33.69% 35.53%

201620172019 201520182020
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9/30/2025 9/30/2024 9/30/2023 9/30/2022

$ 1,108,834 $ 868,459 $ 494,726 $ 434,276

$ 1,108,834     $ 868,459        $ 681,853        $ 434,276      

   Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -                    $ -                    $ (187,127)       $ -                  

   Annual covered payroll $ 8,441,304 $ 6,843,081 $ 5,766,288 $ 5,099,265

13.14% 12.69% 11.82% 8.52%

Valuation Date:

Notes Actuarially determined contribution rates are 

calculated as of December 31 and become 

effective in January 13 months later.

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level Percentage of Payroll, Closed

Remaining Amortization Period 20 years

Asset Valuation Method 10 Year smoothed market; 12% soft corridor

Inflation 2.50%

Salary Increases 3.60% to 11.85% including inflation

Investment Rate of Return 6.75%

Retirement Age

Mortality

Other Information:

Notes There were no benefit changes during the year.

Post-retirement: 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables. Male rates 

are multiplied by 103% and female rates are multiplied by 105%. The rates are 

projected on a fully generational basis by the most recent Scale MP-2021 (with 

immediate convergence).

Pre-retirement: PUB(10) mortality tables, with the 110% of the Public Safety table 

used for males and the 100% of the General Employee table used for females. The 

rates are projected on a fully generational basis by the most recent Scale MP-2021 

(with imediate convergence).

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS TO PENSION PLAN

City of Sanger, Texas

Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the City's plan of benefits. Last 

updated for the 2023 valuation pursuant to an experience study of the period 

ending 2022

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 

determined contribution

Employer contributions as a percentage of 

covered payroll

Actuarially determined employer 

contributions

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS TO PENSION PLAN

Years Ended:
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9/30/2021 9/30/2020 9/30/2019 9/30/2018 9/30/2017 9/30/2016

$ 377,301 $ 341,109 $ 320,019 $ 287,348 $ 266,753 $ 247,432

$ 377,301      $ 341,109      $ 320,019      $ 287,348      $ 266,753     $ 247,432     

$ -                  $ -                  $ -                  $ -                  $ -                 $ -                 

$ 4,462,235 $ 4,209,793 $ 4,060,365 $ 3,706,912 $ 3,549,724 $ 3,475,512

8.46% 8.10% 7.88% 7.75% 7.51% 7.12%
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Total OPEB liability

Service cost $ 13,677        $ 12,697        $ 19,059        $ 16,895        

Interest (on the Total OPEB Liability) 6,447          5,828          3,760          3,575          

Changes in benefit terms -                  -                  -                  -                  

Differences between expected and 

actual experience 2,677          2,822          2,729          81               

Changes of assumptions (10,966)       8,936          (80,007)       6,480          

Benefit payments, including refunds of 

participant contributions (4,319)         (3,023)         (2,647)         (2,347)         

Net changes 7,516          27,260        (57,106)       24,684        

Total OPEB liability - beginning 166,321      139,061      196,167      171,483      

Total OPEB liability - ending $ 173,837      $ 166,321      $ 139,061      $ 196,167      

Covered payroll $ 7,198,306   $ 6,046,378   $ 5,294,125   $ 4,693,038   

2.41% 2.75% 2.63% 4.18%

Notes to schedule:
1

2 No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB statement No. 75 to pay 

related benefits.

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for ten years.  However, until a 

full ten-year trend is compiled, only available information is shown.

20212023 2022

Total OPEB Liability as a percentage of 

covered payroll

2024

TEXAS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Years ended December 31,

PENSION (OPEB) LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN 

City of Sanger, Texas
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1

$ 12,785        $ 8,529          $ 9,076           $ 7,601           

3,799          3,938          3,691           3,432           

-                  -                  -                   -                   

(468)            (3,932)         (9,264)          -                   

24,053        22,174        (7,993)          9,310           

(882)            (812)            (377)             (363)             

39,287        29,897        (4,867)          19,980         

132,196      102,299      107,166       87,186         

$ 171,483      $ 132,196      $ 102,299       $ 107,166       2

$ 4,408,488   $ 4,061,633   $ 3,781,859    $ 3,619,524    

3.89% 3.25% 2.70% 2.96%

20192020 20172018
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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Operating Revenues

Charges for services $ 2,949,224   $ 2,858,192   $ 9,305,762   

Connection fees -                  -                  73,608        

Tap fees 155,063      217,750      -                  

Other revenue -                  -                  -                  

3,104,287   3,075,942   9,379,370   

Operating Expenses

Salaries and wages 915,846      441,668      1,721,044   

Contracted services 256,691      79,412        508,961      

Utilities 166,152      202,598      3,534          

Materials and supplies 84,053        88,694        124,991      

Water and electric purchases 205,233      -                  4,718,988   

Repairs and maintenance 171,072      425,164      177,509      

Depreciation 638,226      1,226,537   271,339      

2,437,273   2,464,073   7,526,366   

667,014      611,869      1,853,004   

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Investment income -                  -                  -                  

Interest expense -                  -                  -                  

-                  -                  -                  

Income (Loss) Before Transfers 667,014      611,869      1,853,004   

Capital contributions -                  3,750,153 -                  

Transfers (out) -                  -                  (749,289)     

$ 667,014      $ 4,362,022   $ 1,103,715   Change in Net Position

Water

Total Operating Revenues

Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

City of Sanger, Texas
COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND 

NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS - BY DEPARTMENT

For the Year Ended September 30, 2025

Sewer Electric
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$ -                      $ 15,113,178   

-                      73,608          

-                      372,813        

214,649          214,649        

214,649          15,774,248   

218,592          3,297,150     

182,107          1,027,171     

-                      372,284        

25,629            323,367        

-                      4,924,221     

30,660            804,405        

-                      2,136,102     

456,988          12,884,700   

(242,339)         2,889,548     

389,020          389,020        

(1,181,001)      (1,181,001)    

(791,981)         (791,981)       

(1,034,320)      2,097,567     

-                      3,750,153     

(95,000)           (844,289)       

$ (1,129,320)      $ 5,003,431     

Administration Total
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CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

DATE: February 2, 2026 

FROM: Clayton Gray, Chief Financial Officer 

AGENDA ITEM: Consideration, acknowledgement, and acceptance of the annual financial report 
and related audit by BrooksWatson & Co. for the fiscal year ending September 
30, 2025. 

 
SUMMARY: 

 The City is required under the Texas Local Government Code and the City Charter to have an audit 
of its financial statements each year. An independent Certified Public Accountant must conduct this 
audit. 

 The audit was performed by BrooksWatson & Co. and was conducted following governmental 
accounting standards and fulfills the requirements set in state law. 

 The audit resulted in an unmodified (“clean”) opinion indicating that the financial statements are 
presented fairly, in all material aspects, in accordance with generally accepted financial principles. 

 The auditors presented the report and their findings in City Council Work Session. 
 
 
FISCAL INFORMATION: 
Budgeted:  N/A    
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION OR ACTION: 

 Staff recommends that the City Council accept the annual audit for the fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2025. 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 The annual financial report for the year ended September 30, 2025.  
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CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

DATE: February 2, 2026 

FROM: Ronnie Grace, Director of Electric 

AGENDA ITEM: Consideration and possible action on purchasing Electric Meters from Aqua-
Metric Sales Company and authorizing the City Manager to execute said 
agreement and all necessary documents. 

 
SUMMARY: 

 This purchase includes 1,172 electric meters intended for inventory and upcoming development 
projects. 

 Due to ongoing supply chain constraints, electric meters continue to experience extended delivery 
lead times of approximately 4–6 months. 

 Aqua-Metrics is the contracted provider of utility meters due to system compatibility requirements. 
 
 
FISCAL INFORMATION: 

 This item is a sole-source purchase and will be procured through Aqua-Metrics. 
 The total cost of this purchase is $367,668.52 and is budgeted for Fiscal Year 2025–2026 under GL 

Account 008-58-5372. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION OR ACTION: 
Staff recommends approval. 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Aqua-Metric Quote 

 Sole Source Letter 
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CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

DATE: February 2, 2026 

FROM: Kelly Edwards, City Secretary 

AGENDA ITEM: Consideration and possible action on the minutes from the January 20, 2026, 
meeting. 

 
 
SUMMARY: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL INFORMATION: 
N/A 
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION OR ACTION: 
Approve the January 20, 2026, meeting minutes. 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Meeting minutes.   
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City Council Minutes 01-20-2026 

Page 1 of 5 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

MEETING MINUTES 

JANUARY 20, 2026, 7:00 PM 
 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

HISTORIC CHURCH BUILDING - 403 N 7TH STREET, SANGER, TEXAS 

 

CALL THE REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER AND ESTABLISH A QUORUM 

Mayor Muir called the regular meeting to order at 7:04 p.m. 

COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT 

Mayor    Thomas Muir 

Mayor Pro Tem, Place 2 Gary Bilyeu 

Councilmember, Place 1  Marissa Barrett 

Councilmember, Place 3  Josh Burrus 

Councilmember, Place 4 Allen Chick   

 

COUNCILMEMBERS ABSENT 

 

Councilmember, Place 5  Victor Gann 

 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 

City Manager John Noblitt, City Secretary Kelly Edwards, Chief Financial Officer Clayton Gray, 
Director of Development Services Ramie Hammonds, Parks & Recreation Director Ryan Nolting, 
Director of Human Resources and Special Projects Jeriana Staton-Hemb, Assistant Fire Chief 
Casey Welborn, Library Director Laura Klenke, Police Chief Tyson Cheek, and Lt. Justin Lewis. 

 
INVOCATION AND PLEDGE 

Councilmember Chick gave the Invocation. The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Councilmember 

Barrett. 

 
CITIZENS COMMENTS 

 
Vince Handler, candidate for Justice of the Peace, provided a campaign update. 
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SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

1. American Legion Post 268 presentation honoring the Firefighter/Paramedic and 
Police Officer of the 2025 year.  
 
Clint Smith announced that Officer Tim Morton was named the 2025 Police Officer of 
the Year, and that Rowdy Whited was named the 2025 Firefighter/Paramedic of the 
Year. 

 
REPORTS 

2. Annual presentation of library department operations. 
 
Director Klenke provided a presentation and overview of the Library. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 

3. Consideration and possible action on the minutes from the January 5, 2026, meeting. 

4. Consideration and possible action to amend the amount for the payment for Hail 
Damage Repairs, September 21, 2025 Storm Event. 

5. Consideration and possible action on the 2026 Facility Use Agreement between the City 

of Sanger and the Sanger Softball Association, and authorize the City Manager to 

execute said agreement. 

6. Consideration and possible action authorizing the City Manager to enter into an 
agreement with DCBRE, LLC Commercial Real Estate for the sale of property. 

7. Consideration and possible action on the 2026 Facility Use Agreement between the City 
of Sanger and the Sanger Youth Sports Association, and authorize the City Manager to 
execute said agreement. 
 

Councilmember Chick removed Item 6 for additional discussion. 

Councilmember Burrus removed Item 7 for additional discussion. 

 

Motion to approve Items 3, 4, and 5 of the consent agenda as presented. 

Motion:  Chick 

Second: Burrus 

Ayes: Barrett, Bilyeu, Burrus, and Chick. 

Nays: None 

Motion passed unanimously. 
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After additional discussion -  

Motion to approve Item 7 of the consent agenda as presented. 

Motion:  Chick 

Second: Burrus 

Ayes: Barrett, Bilyeu, Burrus, and Chick. 

Nays: None 

Motion passed unanimously. 

 

Mayor Muir moved to Item 8 of the agenda. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 

8. Conduct a public hearing on amendments to Chapter 8 Offenses and Nuisances, 8.103 

Notice to Abate Nuisance, amending the language to include a public hearing before 

the municipal court and vehicle identification if available on site.   

Mayor Muir opened the public hearing at 7:55 p.m. 

Director Hammonds provided an overview of the item. 

No one else requested to speak. 

Mayor Muir closed the public hearing at 7:56 p.m. 

 

9. Conduct a public hearing on amendments to Apx SR Sign Regulations, Section 4, 5, 6, 

7, 9, and 15 of the Code of Ordinances.   

Mayor Muir opened the public hearing at 7:56 p.m. 

Director Hammonds provided an overview of the item. 

No one else requested to speak. 

Mayor Muir closed the public hearing at 7:58 p.m. 
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ACTION ITEMS 

10. Consideration and possible action on Ordinance No. 01-07-26 an amendment to 

Chapter 8 Offenses and Nuisances, 8.103 Notice to Abate Nuisance, amending the 

language to include a public hearing before the municipal court and vehicle 

identification if available on site.   

 

Motion to approve. 

Motion:  Bilyeu 

Second: Burrus 
Ayes: Barrett, Bilyeu, Burrus, and Chick. 
Nays: None 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 

11. Consideration and possible action on Ordinance No. 01-05-26 amendments to Apx SR 

Sign Regulations, Section 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, and 15 of the Code of Ordinances.   

 

Motion to approve. 

Motion:  Burrus 

Second: Bilyeu 

Ayes: Barrett, Bilyeu, Burrus, and Chick. 

Nays: None 

Motion passed unanimously. 

 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

City Secretary Edwards stated that the County had requested that cities move their election 
canvases to the last date allowed, scheduling the canvass for May 13, 2025. 

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Mayor Muir called the Council into Executive Session regarding Item 6 of the agenda pursuant 
to Section 551.072. DELIBERATION REGARDING REAL PROPERTY. For deliberations regarding 
the purchase, exchange, lease, or value of real property if deliberation in an open meeting 
would have a detrimental effect on the position of the governmental body in negotiations with a 
third person. 
 

Council convened into executive session at 8:14 p.m. 

Council reconvened into open session at 8:35 p.m. 
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Motion to approve Item 6 of the agenda. 

 

Motion:  Chick 
Second: Bilyeu 
Ayes: Barrett, Bilyeu, Burrus, Chick, and Gann. 
Nays: None 
Motion passed unanimously. 

 

ADJOURN 

There being no further business, Mayor Muir adjourned the meeting at 8:36 p.m. 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Thomas E.  Muir, Mayor 

______________________________    

Kelly Edwards, City Secretary 
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CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 

DATE: February 2, 2026 

FROM: Ryan Nolting, Director of Parks & Recreation 

AGENDA ITEM: Consideration and possible action to authorize the City Manager to execute a 
new task order under the FY2020 Engineering Assistance and Miscellaneous 
Task Agreement with Halff Associates, Inc., for professional landscape 
architectural and engineering services related to the Porter Park East Complex 

 
SUMMARY: 

 The purpose of the Service Agreement is to provide schematic design and construction document 
(PS&E) services for the Porter Park East Multiphase Complex. 

 The term of this Agreement shall be for a period of 12 months beginning on the effective date, 
unless extended by authority of the City Manager or designee. 

 Within the scope of services, Halff Associates will provide the following tasks:  1. Design Support 
Services, 2.  Data Collection, 3. Schematic Design, and 4 Construction Documents.  Halff Associates 
will work closely with the City of Sanger to ensure project satisfaction. 
  

 
FISCAL INFORMATION: 
$600,000 is in the current Parks Capital budget (004-32-6518 Porter Park Phase II), and Sanger EDC 
approved $1,080,100 on December 9 to fund the project. 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION OR ACTION: 

 Staff recommends approval. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 City Council Communication 
 Basic Scope of Services with Halff Associates. 
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December 31, 2025  
 
PROJECT No. (AVO): 56304.002  
 
City of Sanger 
Ryan Nolting 
Parks and Recreation 
201 Bolivar St, Sanger TX 76266 
 
 
RE: Porter Park East PS&E- The approximately 50-acre site east of Interstate Highway 35 and west 
of Cowling Road on the northern banks of Duck Creek.  
        
 
Dear Ryan, 
 
At Halff we improve lives and communities by turning ideas into reality.  We do that by working with great 
clients on meaningful PROJECTs.  As such, we are pleased to submit the following Scope of Services for 
the Porter Park East Sports Complex for the City of Sanger.  
 
The Services to be performed as described herein are to be performed under the requirements and 
definitions as described in the FY2020 ENGINEERING ASSISTANCE AND MISCELLANEOUS TASKS 
Agreement executed between Halff Associates, Inc. and the City of Sanger, Texas on 11/13/2019.   
 
The Scope of Services are as described in EXHIBIT A with the Proposed Fees shown in EXHIBIT B. 
Proposed services that are not included as part of the Scope of Service are listed in EXHIBIT C 
Exclusions/Available Additional Services; Project Location and Limits and the Approved Master Plan are 
provided in EXHIBIT D; and, the Project Schedule is as shown in EXHIBIT E. 
 
Unless otherwise modified, please note that the Scope of Services described herein shall remain 
valid and continue in effect for a period of 90 calendar days, after which it will require renewal in 
writing by CONSULTANT and CLIENT.  
 
Thank you for the opportunity to work with you to improve lives and communities. Please feel free to 
contact me if you have any questions or comments regarding this Scope of Services. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
W. Brett Mann, PLA, ASLA 
Director of Landscape Architecture 
214-217-6472 
bmann@halff.com 
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EXHIBIT A 

BASIC SCOPE OF SERVICES 
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURAL AND ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR 

PORTER PARK EAST SPORTS COMPLEX 
 

PURPOSE 

 

Halff (CONSULTANT) shall provide Landscape Architecture and Engineering Services for Porter Park 

East Sports Complex (PROJECT), to the City of Sanger, TX (CLIENT). The purpose of the PROJECT is 

to provide Schematic Design and Construction Document (PS&E) services for Phase 1 of a multiphase 

sports complex as described in the scope and shown on the attached Exhibit D Approved Master Plan.  

 

SCOPE 

 

The PROJECT is located on the approximately 50-acre site east of Interstate Highway 35 and west of 
Cowling Road on the northern banks of Duck Creek and will consist of the amenities shown in the area 
delineated as Phase 1 on the attached Exhibit D Approved Master Plan. This PROJECT Scope will 
consist of Schematic Design and Construction Documents (PS&E) for Phase 1.    

 

ASSUMPTIONS 

 

This scope of services (the "Scope of Services") has been prepared using the following assumptions as a 

basis for its preparation: 

 

1. The Scope of Services represents a single, stand-alone PROJECT consisting of tasks described 
below for the design and construction of the proposed improvements, in their entirety, with no 
removal or separation of tasks for the completion of the PROJECT. 
 

2. Preparation of plans at each milestone is on a one-time only basis.  Changes to a milestone 
submittal (i.e. a re-submitted set of 60% plans after a full 60% set of plans has been submitted by 
the CONSULTANT for formal review by the CLIENT) will result in additional fees to be 
determined at that time prior to revision work being done.  Comments on each milestone 
submittal will be addressed in the following submittal. 
 

 

3. The PROJECT will follow Federal, State and Local design requirements as applicable.  
 

4. CLIENT, and Stakeholders, i.e., TxDOT, NCTCOG, Parks Department, Sports Associations etc, 
will provide available existing conditions information and base-map data, including, but not limited 
to: 
 

• As-built plans, record drawings, and/or condition assessments for existing utilities located 
within the proximity or adjacent to the PROJECT area. 
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• Construction and/or as-built drawings, if available, and any future development plans 
impacting the PROJECT area.  

• Traffic studies 
• Current property and easement information. 
• Aerial Data. 
• Existing or previous environmental reporting. 
• Base information such as CADD or GIS data 
• GIS data for FEMA floodplain 
• Hydraulic models 
 

5. The CLIENT will be responsible for distributing, coordinating, and facilitating all submittal 
milestones/packages to necessary stakeholders, including correspondence during the submittal 
review period(s) and providing CONSULTANT with organized reviews/comments and feedback 
from reviewing entities.  
 

6. In addition to any base map data provided by the CLIENT (as described above), CONSULTANT 
will utilize publicly available and CLIENT-provided data (aerial ortho imagery, contours, record 
drawings, etc.) to supplement PROJECT development outside the limits of survey. Supplemental 
information will be used in the assessment, review, and design of the proposed improvements. 
 

The PROJECT schedule and milestone dates are based on an assumed CLIENT and 

stakeholder review period of 10 business days. Review periods exceeding 10 business days may 

impact the remaining schedule. 

 

7. There are no significant changes to site conditions since the original request for proposal was 
provided by CONSULTANT to the CLIENT on July 15, 2025. 
 

8. Internal PROJECT meetings described herein will be held at the CONSULTANT’s office or 
virtually, unless on-site meeting is specified. CONSULTANT shall notify CLIENT and request 
additional compensation if additional meetings are necessary for ongoing coordination and/or the 
completion of the PROJECT. 
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TASK 1 – DESIGN SUPPORT SERVICES 

TASK 1.1 – PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND COMMUNICATION 

PROJECT Management Coordination, Communications, and Reporting: 

CONSULTANT will provide reports to the CLIENT as part of a monthly coordination meeting, which will 
detail the current progress, highlight any outstanding issues, and address future concerns. Additionally, 
CONSULTANT will conduct internal meetings with their staff for effective coordination and communication 
regarding the PROJECT. 
 
CONSULTANT will coordinate with all disciplines involved in the production of the design documents and 
will conduct internal coordination meetings as needed.   
 
CONSULTANT will schedule and coordinate up to five (05) Design Review meetings total with the 
CLIENT during the design phase. These meetings will review the design documents and address any 
issues that may arise. 
 
Other Coordination - Phone calls, conference calls, virtual meetings are included in this phase. 
 

TASK 1.2 – PROJECT KICK-OFF MEETING 
 

PROJECT Kick-off Meeting: 

CONSULTANT will attend one (1) virtual or in-person coordination/PROJECT kick-off meeting with the 
CLIENT to confirm the goals, objectives, budget, schedule and program of proposed improvements of the 
PROJECT. Notes may be taken by the CONSULTANT to record items discussed and decisions made 
during this meeting and provided to all attendees. 
 
• PROJECT Kick-Off Meeting – One (1) Virtual or in-person meeting (3 Hours maximum duration)  

Task 1.2 Deliverables: 
Deliverables provided by the CONSULTANT shall include the following: 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the PROJECT Kick-Off meeting notes. 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the monthly progress reports (if requested).  
 

TASK 1.3 – QUALITY ASSURANCE/QUALITY CONTROL (QA/QC) 
 
CONSULTANT will perform internal Quality Assurance and Quality Control (QA/QC) reviews of 
CONSULTANT’S deliverables at each submittal milestone. SUBCONSULTANTs are required to follow 
CONSULTANT QA/QC standards. In addition, the CONSULTANT QA/QC Manager may provide 
comments to SUBCONSULTANTs and recheck for implementation. 
 

  

125

Item 6.



Porter Park East 
City of Sanger, TX 

December 31, 2025  
Page 5 of 28 

 
 

Halff RCH | Halff.com 

TASK 2 – DATA COLLECTION 

 

TASK 2.1 – GEOTECHNICAL REPORT 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The objective of this geotechnical investigation will be to obtain subsurface data and develop foundation, 

pavement, pavement subgrade and earthwork recommendations for the facility. All services provided will 

be performed in accordance with and limited to those generally accepted engineering standards 

prevailing at the time and in the area where the work is performed. 

Field Services 

Based on the PROJECT layout, we propose to drill a total of nine (9) borings across the site. Six (6) 

borings will be drilled within the proposed parking and field areas to depths of about 10 feet, or to top of 

competent bedrock, whichever occurs first. Three (3) borings will be drilled in the vicinity of the 

concession building, shaded bleachers, pavilion, and restroom buildings to depths of about 20 feet, or 10 

feet into competent bedrock, whichever occurs first. 

The borings will be drilled and sampled using a truck-mounted drilling rig, however, if an ATV- mounted 

drilling rig is required, an additional fee of $550 will be charged. Conventional tube or split- barrel 

(standard penetration test) samples will be collected as appropriate for the soils encountered. Bedrock 

strata, if encountered, will be tested in-place using the Texas Cone Penetration Test. The recovered 

subsurface samples will be preserved and labeled as to the appropriate boring number and depth in the 

field. These materials will later be described in further detail in the laboratory by a staff geologist or 

engineer. Groundwater, if observed, will be recorded during and at the completion of drilling. Borings will 

be backfilled with on-site cuttings to near surface grade. Backfilled borings should be expected to settle 

over time and should be monitored; CONSULTANT will not be responsible for any additional future 

backfilling required, nor damage or injury that may result from settlement of the boreholes after the initial 

backfill process. 

Laboratory Services 

Selected laboratory testing of the recovered samples will be performed to evaluate soil index, volume 

change, and strength properties of the subsurface materials, and to provide data for analysis. These tests 

may include but may not be limited to the following: 

• Moisture content 
• Atterberg limits 
• Percent passing No. 200 mesh sieve 
• Unconfined compressive strength (soil and rock) 
• Overburden swell 
• Soluble sulfates 
• CONSULTANT will retain recovered samples for 30 days after submission of the geotechnical 
• report unless other arrangements are made by the client. 

Engineering Analysis and Report 

Data obtained from the field investigation and laboratory tests will be presented in a geotechnical data 

report. Information to be provided includes the following: 

• A plan sheet indicating the approximate location of each boring. 
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• A log of each boring with the boring number, depth of each stratum, material description, soil 
classification with laboratory test results, and groundwater information. 

• A discussion of subsurface soil and groundwater conditions. 
• A brief discussion of site geology. 
• Estimates of soil movement related to settlement and expansive soils (if present). 
• Outline of the engineering properties of the natural soils present, and any existing fill, if encountered 
• Recommendations for foundation type, depth and allowable loading, uplift considerations, 
• L-Pile parameters and Seismic Site Class (2018 IBC). 
• Earthwork recommendations, including material type(s), compaction, and backfill requirements. 
• Pavement and pavement subgrade recommendations. 

CONDITIONS 

We respectfully request that the Owner provide the following: 

• Landowner permission, right(s) of entry, permits, easements or other access authorization required to 
perform our proposed services.  

• The CLIENT must also provide access to each boring location for the drill rig and crew prior to drilling 
operations. Collateral damage to landscaping and/or flatwork may occur in the event of limited 
access; CONSULTANT will not be responsible for any damage to these items or responsible for any 
repair. If the above conditions are not met and the PROJECT site is not accessible to the drilling rig at 
time of initial mobilization, standby and travel time (portal to portal) will be billed at the rate of 
$250/hour for additional mobilizations. 

• CONSULTANT will contact DigTess/Texas811 One Call for general subsurface utility clearing within 
the easements. Locating and marking any private non-franchise subsurface utilities or other 
structures or items which might be damaged during the field exploration program is not part of this 
scope. The client must provide these services before drilling can proceed; however, these services 
can be provided by third-party vendor to CONSULTANT for an additional fee. CONSULTANT will not 
be responsible for damaged utilities that are not clearly marked. 

 
Task 2.1 Deliverables 

Deliverables provided by the CONSULTANT shall include the following: 
• One (1) PDF electronic copy of the report.  

TASK 2.2 – DESIGN SURVEY 
Survey Scope:  

Topographic and Boundary Survey of approximately 54+/- acres of land located on the east side of I-35 

south of the town of Sanger and being more particularly located within the R.A. Johnson Survey, Abstract 

No. 666, Denton County, Texas.  

Topo limits for proposed Porter Park are easterly from the northwest corner of the proposed site at the 

existing east right-of-way line of I-35 and along the north line of the proposed tract for approximately 400 

feet, northerly +/- 185 feet, easterly +/- 680 feet to the existing east right-of-way line of Cowling Road, 

southerly along the existing east right-of-way line of Cowling Road +/- 2800 feet to the south bridge 

abutment along the south top bank of Duck Creek, northwesterly along said south top bank of Duck 

Creek approximately 880 feet to the existing east right-of-way line for I-35, continuing westerly with the 

south top bank of said Duck Creek over and across TxDOT right-of-way +/- 400 feet to the west right-of-

way line of I-35, north approximately 750 feet along the existing west right-of-way line of I-35, east +/- 400 

feet over and across TxDOT right-of-way to the west line of the subject tract and west right-of-way line for 

I-35, north approximately 1,400 feet along the existing east right-of-way line for I-35 and the west line of 

the subject tract to the point of beginning of proposed Porter Park. Topo to include east edge of existing 

service road along the subject tract’s west boundary line. 
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Survey for Design: 

• Survey shall tie in all right-of-way lines and corners, property lines, trees 6” and larger in caliper, 
fence lines, and all other present and visible surface features. Property lines will be shown based on 
found monuments/property corners, and will be resolved for best fit, but not as a deliverable. 

• Topographic information provided at one-foot contours of existing grade.  
• Establish PROJECT control using Global Positioning System (GPS methodology. Horizontal values 

will be based on the Texas State Plane Coordinate System, North American Datum of 1983, North 
Central Zone (4202). The vertical values will be referenced to NAVD88 and computed using GEOID 
18, set a minimum of three control points for design. 

• Horizontal and vertical location of all existing facilities within the PROJECT limits including existing 
paving, driveways, sidewalks, buildings, mailboxes, landscaping, etc. 

• Tie existing visible franchise utilities and appurtenances, and public utilities such as water valves, fire 
hydrants, manholes, etc.  

• Tie underground utilities if located during the discovery process as marked by Texas 811.  
 
Task 2.2 Deliverables  

Deliverables provided by the CONSULTANT shall include the following: 

• 3D digital terrain model and 2D planimetric and boundary/legal reference files in Civil 3D 

TASK 2.3 – ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 
Environmental 

 Cultural Resources Assessment: Because the PROJECT is being developed by the City, a 
political sub-entity of the State of Texas, it falls under purview of the Antiquities Code of 
Texas (Title 9, Chapter 191 of the Texas Natural Resources Code), which requires that the 
Texas Historical Commission (THC) review actions that have the potential to impact 
archeological historic properties within the public domain. In addition, the PROJECT requires 
authorization by the USACE pursuant to Section 404 of the Clean Water Act, which is 
considered a federal action requiring compliance with Section 106 of the National Historic 
Preservation Act (Section 106). Halff will perform desktop research and agency consultation 
as described below to enable the City to comply with the Texas Antiquities Code (TAC) and 
Section 106 for the proposed PROJECT. 

 
Based on the initial assessment of the PROJECT, it was determined that preliminary 
consultation with the Texas Historical Commission (THC) will be necessary due to the 
proximity of the Greenwood/Old Greenwood Cemetery and its shared boundary with the 
PROJECT area. Halff will subsequently conduct a review of the Texas Archeological Sites 
Atlas to identify any documented archeological sites, above-ground historic resources, or 
additional cemeteries within or adjacent to the PROJECT area that may be eligible for listing 
in the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) or for designation as a State Antiquities 
Landmark (SAL). In addition, historic aerial imagery and topographic maps will be reviewed to 
identify potential above-ground historic resources. Background research will also include an 
assessment of local soils, geology, and other physiographic data to evaluate the potential for 
buried archeological deposits, with consideration of the proposed PROJECT’s horizontal and 
vertical footprint. The results of this desktop review will inform recommendations regarding 
the potential for the PROJECT to affect cultural resources or cemeteries eligible for NRHP 
listing or SAL designation. 

 
The results of the desktop review will be summarized in a report submitted for review by THC 
and USACE.  If the desktop review and agency consultation results in the need for additional 
cultural resources investigations (e.g., archeological and/or historic resources field surveys), 
this will be considered an additional service and scoped separately. 
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 Threatened and Endangered Species Assessment: Because a Section 404 permit is a 
federal action, documentation must be provided to make an effect determination under the 
Endangered Species Act to remain in compliance with the conditions of the Section 404 
permit program.  The Threatened and Endangered Species Assessment will include the 
following: 

o Obtaining an official species list for the PROJECT area and other related 
construction areas utilizing the United States Fish and Wildlife Service 
(USFWS) Information for Planning and Consultation (IPAC) service. 

o Conducting background research including review of aerial photography, 
topographic maps, vegetation maps, and soil survey maps to identify 
potentially suitable habitat for species listed in the IPaC report. 

o An opinion regarding the potential of the proposed PROJECTs to affect 
federally listed threatened and endangered species. 

 

• Section 404 Permitting Assessment: This task assumes the PROJECT would not exceed 
the impact thresholds of a Nationwide Permit.  Upon completion of Cultural Resources 
Assessments, and Threatened and Endangered Species Assessment, Halff specialists will 
coordinate with design team to evaluate site alternatives pursuant to the Section 404 
Nationwide Permit program.  Halff will outline Section 404 permitting responsibility as 
appropriate for the 60% design scenario and incorporate as a separate memorandum.  This 
task does not assume the preparation and submittal of any Section 404 permit documents to 
the USACE 

 

Section 404 Jurisdictional Determination/Delineation: Halff will perform an Aquatic Resources 

Delineation in general accordance with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) 1987 Wetlands 

Delineation Manual and appropriate USACE Regional Supplement (Great Plains Region) as detailed 

below. Halff will perform a desktop review by locating readily available resource documents which may 

include aerial photographs, historic topographic maps, soil surveys, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 

(USFWS) National Wetlands Inventory (NWI) maps, National Hydrography Dataset (NHD), Federal 

Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM), historic aerial 

photographs, and other related data for a desktop review of site conditions. 

Halff will perform a site visit to evaluate the existence and locations of aquatic resources on the site 

generally following the USACE 1987 Wetlands Delineation Manual and the applicable USACE Regional 

Supplement. Completion of USACE wetland determination data forms will be completed if applicable. The 

ordinary high-water mark (OHWM) for streams will be identified in the field. Following the site visit, Halff will 

prepare exhibits showing the boundaries (polygons) and acreage and/or linear footage (if applicable) of 

aquatic resources identified onsite during the site visit as collected utilizing a GPS with sub-meter accuracy. 

Halff will prepare a report for documenting the results of the aquatic resources delineation performed onsite. 

The report will address the applicable regulatory framework, describe the assessment methodology, 

findings, provide site-specific conclusions and jurisdictional analysis of identified features. 

 

Task 2.3 Deliverables 

Deliverables provided by the CONSULTANT shall include the following: 

• Documentation Report in PDF format. 
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TASK 2.4 – WATER RESOURCES 
• Coordinate with other disciplines with regards to drainage and floodplain constraints 
• Perform preliminary drainage and flood studies to determine if any grading or drainage within the 

site will impact adjacent properties. If a pond is needed, a pond volume will be estimated 
o Hydrology 

 Delineate existing drainage areas to the 10% rule 
 Compute existing time of concentration and percent impervious values based on 

the current conditions at the time of PROJECT kick-off 
 Compute the proposed time of concentration and percent impervious values 

based on the preliminary site and drainage plans 
 If an increase in discharge is shown, analyze the capacity of the receiving system 
 If needed, determine the amount of detention required to show no adverse 

impacts  
o Hydraulics 

 Leverage the FEMA effective Clear Creek hydraulic model 
 Realign and add cross sections as needed based on the conceptual grading 
 Utilize the best available LiDAR and survey to revise the existing conditions cross 

section geometry 
 Input the proposed grading and low water crossing into the proposed model. If 

adverse impacts are shown, up to two mitigation alternatives will be analyzed to 
mitigate rises in the floodplain 

o Prepare a brief memo describing the methodology and findings of the studies described 
above 

Task 2.4 Deliverables 

Deliverables provided by the CONSULTANT shall include the following: 

• Drainage Study Report in PDF format. 

• Flood Study Report 

• Hydrological and Hydraulic HEC-RAS and HEC-HMS Models 

TASK 3 – SCHEMATIC DESIGN 

TASK 3.1 – SCHEMATIC DESIGN (30%) 
 
Schematic Design (30%) : 

Based on the input gathered in the Master Plan phase of this project, the kickoff meeting, concept 
development, stakeholder meetings, and site investigation , the CONSULTANT will prepare one (1) 
Schematic Design (30%) that  communicates the intent and vision of the PROJECT. The Schematic 
Design shall include the layout of proposed improvements to demonstrate compliance with applicable 
Federal, State, and local/stakeholder rules, regulations, and codes. The CONSULTANT will identify any 
locations where exceptions to the established design standards may be necessary. 
 
Proposed Improvements: 
The Schematic Design (30%) shall include improvements within the approved Phase 1 Limits of Work as 
shown on the Exhibit D Project Location and Limits Plan and as described in Exhibit A Scope of Work  
sections of this proposal. Design for improvements shall follow current CLIENT and regulatory standards, 
unless directed otherwise by the CLIENT.  
 
Landscape Schematic Design Scope: 
The following Landscape plan sheets are anticipated for the Schematic Design: 
 

1. Illustrative Site Plan 
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2. Illustrative Sections and Details 
3. Precedent Imagery 
4. Site Materials / Furnishings Plan / Palettes 
5. Amenity Grading & Drainage Plan 
6. Selection of Pre-Engineered Building for Concessions and Restrooms 
7. Sketch Details 
8. Tree Survey  
a. Tree survey will show locations, sizes, of trees 6” DBH or larger, and status of trees in the 

design area to be kept or removed. 
9. Planting Plan / Palette 
10. Lighting Plan 
11. Diagrammatic Irrigation Layout (for coordination of system elements with Civil) 

 
Civil Schematic Design Scope: 

Based upon the approved Master Plan the following Civil plan sheets are anticipated for the schematic 

design.  

1. Cover Sheet and Sheet Index 

2. General Notes and Legend 

3. Site and Survey Control 

4. Mass Grading Plan 

5. Paving Plan and Profiles  

6. Parking Lot and Amenity Site Plan  

7. Pavement Markings and Signage Plans 

8. Existing Drainage Area Map 

9. Proposed Drainage Area Map 

10. Drainage Plans  

11. Water and Sewer Plans 

Structural 

The schematic design is anticipated to include the following structural sheets: 
1. Preliminary Retaining Wall Layouts 

a. Retaining Wall adjacent to Miracle League Field 

b. C-I-P Site Retaining Walls Greater Than Four (4) Feet In Height And Necessary For 

Site Grading 

2. Pre-Engineered Building Foundation Plan 

3. Typical Pre-Engineered Building Foundation Details 

4. Preliminary Dugout Floor Plan 

5. Preliminary Dugout Roof Framing Plan 

6. Preliminary Backstop Design 

7. Preliminary Monument Sign and Overhead Monument Foundation Plans 

8. Preliminary Overhead Monument Framing Details 

9. Preliminary Light Pole Foundation Details 

Plumbing 

The schematic design is anticipated to include general locations of plumbing services such as sanitary 
sewer and domestic water. 
 

Task 3.1 Deliverables: 
Deliverables provided by the CONSULTANT shall include the following: 
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• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the Schematic Design (30%) Submittal. 

Drawing Deliverable Review/Comment Resolution Meetings: 

After the 30% submittal milestone has been delivered to the CLIENT, CONSULTANT will schedule and 
conduct a Drawing Deliverable Review/Comment Resolution Meeting with the CLIENT to discuss 
submittal review comments related to the PROJECT. Meeting objectives will include design feedback, 
comment review discussions, and describe subsequent submittal deliverables per the Scope of Work, 
with general questions and answers. Notes may be taken by the CONSULTANT at this meeting to 
document items discussed and decisions made.  
 
Drawing sets shall be sheet sizes of 22-inch-Wide x 34-inch-Long (suitable for half size in 11-inch x 17-

inch format), with black and white line work. 

All Scope of Services following the Schematic Design (30%) Phase will not begin until the CLIENT 
has provided CONSULTANT with a formal Notice to Proceed (NTP) confirming the acceptance of 
the design. CONSULTANT will review and incorporate applicable review comments and feedback 
received during the Drawing Deliverable Review/Comment Resolution Meeting into the preparation of the 
subsequent submittal milestones.  
 

TASK 3.2 – OPINION OF PROBABLE CONSTRUCTION COST (OPCC) 
 
Preliminary Schematic Design (30%) OPCC: 

Upon completion of the approved Schematic Design plan (30%), the CONSULTANT shall prepare an 
Opinion of Probable Construction Cost (OPCC). CONSULTANT’s OPCC shall be based on the quantities 
indicated on the CONSULTANT’s plans and on the unit prices current at the time of the probable cost 
opinion preparation. Quantities and available unit pricing included in the schematic design OPCC are 
preliminary and shall be subject to change due to significant fluctuations in the market and pricing 
changes beyond CONSULTANT’S control. OPCCs are intended for budget purposes only. 

 
Task 3.2 Deliverables: 
Deliverables provided by the CONSULTANT shall include the following: 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the Opinion of Probable Construction Cost listing bid items, 
quantities, and estimated bid costs.  
 

TASK 3.3 – PHASING PLAN UPDATE 
Through the Schematic Design phase, the CONSULTANT shall, in collaboration with the CLIENT, confirm 

program elements for the phasing plan. These elements from the Schematic Design will be further 

developed into Construction Documents.   

Phase 1 will contain the following elements: 

• Miracle League Field (and associated needs) 

 Lighting 

 Bleachers 

 Dugouts 

 Adjacent Walks 

 Fencing 

 Scoreboard 

• Accessible Playground 

• Concession / Restroom Building  
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• Shade pavilion between Miracle League Field and playground 

• Park Entry Monument 

• Parking sufficient to serve games played on the Miracle League Field 

 Limited to approach with drive apron on Cowling Road and concrete paving for 

twenty handicap parking spaces and drive to serve the spaces. The remainder of 

parking for 50-vehicles shall be graded and finished with aggregate base materials. 

• Mass grading for the ballfields and parking areas 

• Site Electric 

• Site Wastewater 

• Site Water 

• Site Stormwater & Detention Area Improvements 

 

Future Phases will be included in the OPCC as “order of magnitude” line-item costs for budgeting and are 

anticipated to include the following elements: 

• Four (4) Youth Baseball Fields 

• Parking not associated with the Miracle League Field 

• Final grading for elements outside of the Phase 1 elements 

• Sport Courts  

• Walking paths  

• Restroom buildings other than the central Concession/Restroom bldg. 

• Site Lighting 

• All other elements shown in the Master Plan 

 

The Phasing Plan will consist of illustrated plans and a Phasing OPCC spreadsheet.  The plans will be in 

sheet sizes of 22-inch-Wide x 34-inch-Long, formatted with black and white line work with a scale 

appropriate to illustrate which proposed improvements will be included in each of the approved phases. 

The Phasing OPCC will be an 8.5-inch x11-inch table with design elements grouped by phase with 

associated construction costs. 

Task 3.3 Deliverables: 
Deliverables provided by the CONSULTANT shall include the following: 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the Phasing Plan Sheets, and 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the Phasing OPCC 
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TASK 4 – CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS   

Construction Document Preparation: 

Based on the input gathered from the Schematic Design Phase, the CONSULTANT will prepare 
Construction Documents for Phase 1 as described in Task 3.1 above that include design drawings, bid 
documents and technical specifications for the PROJECT.  
 
The 60%, 90%, and 100% submittal milestones shall include the anticipated improvements identified in 
the PROJECT’s Scope and Assumptions sections. Design for improvements shall follow current CLIENT 
standards, supplemented with state and federal ADA standards where necessary. In addition to the 
anticipated improvements described above, CONSULTANT’s 60%, 90%, and 100% submittal milestones 
shall also contain the following base information: 

• PROJECT name; and if applicable, the street address, and lot and block description. 
• Date, scale, north arrow, and the name of the Licensed Professional preparing the plan. 
• Location of existing property lines and/or ROW limits.  
• Approximate centerlines of existing water courses and the location of the floodplain; the approximate 

location of significant drainage features; and the location of existing parking lots, streets, driveways, 
and sidewalks on or adjacent to the PROJECT.  

• Approximate location of known overhead lines, subsurface utility lines, and utility easements within 
the PROJECT limits, including the location of utility/power poles, generators, and equipment. 

CONSULTANT shall provide an Opinion of Probable Construction Cost (OPCC) at 60%, 90% preliminary 
construction document, and 100% Bid Package submittal milestones. CONSULTANT’s OPCC shall be 
based on the quantities indicated on the CONSULTANT’s plans and on the unit prices current at the time 
of the probable cost opinion preparation. Quantities and available unit pricing included in the schematic 
design OPCC are preliminary and shall be subject to change due to significant fluctuations in the market 
and pricing changes beyond CONSULTANT’S control. OPCCs are intended for budget purposes only. 
 

TASK 4.1 - 60% Design Submittal 
LA Design Scope: 

 Coordinate with other disciplines on various site components to be included in PROJECT. 
 Based on the final schematic site plan Approved by the CLIENT, and utilizing information 

obtained from Phases as described above, prepare 60% landscape design plans, including: 
• Landscape Site Layout Plans, Notes, Schedule(s), and Details 

o The site layout plans will show existing and new site components’ locations and 
dimensions. It will include information such as shade structure dimensions, 
benches, walls, walk and plaza dimensions and other site amenities.  It will also 
include dimensions for any site improvements not shown on civil plans.  

• Site Materials Plans, details 
o The site materials plans will show the materials, colors, finishes, and details for 

landscape site components such as shade structures, furniture, walls, walks, etc. 
 Planting Plans 
 Tree Mitigation Plan 
 Irrigation Plans 
 Outline of Technical Specifications 

 
Civil Design Scope: 

 Coordinate with other disciplines on various site components to be included in PROJECT. 
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 Based on the final schematic site plan Approved by the CLIENT, and utilizing information 
obtained from Phases as described above, prepare 60% civil design plans. 

 Prepare PROJECT specific Technical Specifications for work items not covered by either 
City, NCTCOG, or TxDOT specifications 

 Prepare 60% level quantities with phase appropriate contingency factors for inclusion into the 
overall PROJECT opinion of probably construction cost. Unit costs for these items shall be 
developed utilizing previously let PROJECTs by Halff of similar scope and size as well as 
TxDOT’s available 3-month and 12-month rolling averages for recently let PROJECTs. 

 
Structural 

 Coordinate with other disciplines on various site components to be included in PROJECT.  
 Based on the final schematic site plan Approved by the CLIENT, and utilizing information 

obtained from Phases as described above, prepare 60% structural design plans. 
 Prepare PROJECT specific Technical Specifications for work items not covered by either 

City, NCTCOG, or TxDOT specifications 
 Prepare 60% level quantities with phase appropriate contingency factors for inclusion into the 

overall PROJECT opinion of probably construction cost. Unit costs for these items shall be 
developed utilizing previously let PROJECTs by Halff of similar scope and size as well as 
TxDOT’s available 3-month and 12-month rolling averages for recently let PROJECTs.  

 
Electrical 

 Coordinate with other disciplines on various site components to be included in PROJECT. 
 Based on the final schematic site plan Approved by the CLIENT, and utilizing information 

obtained from Phases as described above, prepare 60% design plans, including 
o Site lighting and field lighting will continue to be tailored to meet site requirements. 
o Power supply and routing for Entry Sign, Irrigation System, Concession & Restroom 

Buildings 
o Lighting cutsheets for typical fixtures will be included. 
o Specifications 
o One line riser for electrical service and feeders. 

 
Plumbing 

 Coordinate with other disciplines on various site components to be included in PROJECT. 
 Based on the final schematic site plan Approved by the CLIENT, and utilizing information 

obtained from Phases as described above, prepare 60% design plans, including 
o Plumbing fixture cutsheets and typical piping will be included. 
o Specifications 

 
 

Water Resources 

 Coordinate with other disciplines with regards to drainage and floodplain constraints 
 Obtain floodplain development permit through the City. 
 Perform final drainage and flood studies to determine if the revised grading and drainage 

within the site will impact adjacent properties.  
o Hydrology 

1. Revise the proposed times of concentration and percent impervious values to reflect 
the revised site and drainage plans 

2. Confirm no adverse impacts are shown to Clear Creek or any adjacent properties. 
o Hydraulics 

1. Revise the proposed conditions hydraulic model to reflect the revised grading plan 
2. Confirm no adverse impacts and that the results meet all City and FEMA criteria 
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3. Prepare final drainage study and flood study report in support of grading and 
floodplain development permits for submittal to the City 

 FEMA Conditional Letter of Map Revision (CLOMR), If needed 
o Utilize modeling developed during the 60% design phase 
o Execute the FEMA 10-, 50-, 100-, and 500-year flood profiles for the duplicate effective, 

revised existing, and proposed conditions floodplain and floodway models 
o Delineate the limits of the revised existing and proposed 100-year floodplain, 500-year 

floodplain, and floodway for Clear Creek 
o Prepare the FEMA CLOMR application including the hydraulic report, work maps, and 

application forms. 
o Deliver digital copy of the CLOMR Report to the City. 

1. Address any comments from the City 
o Submit the CLOMR Report to FEMA via the FEMA online LOM-C site. The current review 

fee for the CLOMR is $6,500 and can be paid for by the CLIENT or may paid for by 
CONSULTANT and be submitted as an expense. 

o Coordinate with FEMA to address any comments 
 
CONSULTANT will not proceed to 90% submittal until the CLIENT has provided CONSULTANT 
with a formal Notice to Proceed (NTP) confirming the acceptance of the 60% design. 
CONSULTANT will review and incorporate applicable review comments and feedback received during the 
Drawing Deliverable Review/Comment Resolution Meeting into the preparation of the subsequent 
submittal milestones. Any changes to plans following acceptance of 60% plans by the client will be 
considered a change order and billed hourly to the client.   
 

TASK 4.2/4.3 - 90% Construction Documents/100% Bid Package Submittal 
Milestone Preparation: 
CONSULTANT shall prepare both the 90% Construction Documents and 100% Bid Package submittal 
milestones, including the following anticipated sheets, listed below: 

 
PS&E List: 
1. Cover Sheet and Sheet Index 

2. General Notes and Legends 

3. Site and Survey Control 

4. Tree Survey and Protection 

5. Demolition Plans 

6. Grading Plans 

7. Paving Layout Plan 

8. Paving Plan and Profiles  

9. Parking Lot and Amenity Dimension Control Plans 

10. Pavement Markings and Signage Plans 

11. Existing Drainage Area Map 

12. Proposed Drainage Area Map 

13. Hydrologic and Hydraulic Data Sheets 

14. Drainage Layout Plans 

15. Ditch Plan and Profiles 

16. Culvert Plan and Profiles 

17. Storm Drain Plan and Profiles 

18. Utility Layout Plan 

19. Water Plans 

20. Sewer Plan and Profiles 

21. Erosion Control Plans 
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22. Landscape Site Plans 

23. Site Amenity Materials Plans 

24. Site Amenity Specific Drainage Plans 

25. Planting Plans 

26. Planting Details 

27. Irrigation Plans 

28. Irrigation Details 

29. Structural Plans 

30. Structural Details 

31. Standard details 

32. Special details 

33. Porter Park West Pond Dredging Plans 

34. Special Inspections 

35. Wind Load Diagrams 

36. Retaining Wall Plan and Profiles 

37. Typical Retaining Wall Details 

38. PEMB Foundation Plan 

39. PEMB Foundation Details 

40. Dugout Foundation Plan 

41. Dugout Roof Framing Plan 

42. Dugout Foundation Details 

43. Dugout Roof Framing Details 

44. Backstop Plan and Details 

45. Site Power Plans 

46. Site Lighting and Field Lighting Plan 

47. Lighting Details  

48. One-line Riser Plan 

49. Plumbing Plan 

50. Plumbing Details 

 

Additional plans may be added at the CONSULTANT’S discretion as needed to fully 

communicate design intent. 

 
Landscape Design Scope: 

 Coordinate with other disciplines on various site components to be included in PROJECT. 
 Based on the 60% Design Submittal plans Approved by the CLIENT, and utilizing information 

obtained from Phases as described above, prepare one set of construction landscape design 
plans as previously noted, and including  

• Irrigation Plan and Details 
• Technical Specifications 

 
Civil Design Scope: 

 Coordinate with other disciplines on various site components to be included in PROJECT. 
 CONSULTANT shall address comments from the 60% review and advance civil design 

drawings, PROJECT specific specifications, and quantities from the 60% stage to a 90% 
stage.  

 
Structural 

 Coordinate with other disciplines on various site components to be included in PROJECT. 
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 CONSULTANT shall address comments from the 60% review and advance structural design 
drawings, PROJECT specific specifications, and quantities from the 60% stage to a 90% 
stage.  

 
Electrical 

 Coordinate with other disciplines on various site components to be included in PROJECT. 
 Based on the 60% Design Submittal plans Approved by the CLIENT, and utilizing information 

obtained from Phases as described above, prepare one set of construction design plans, 
including: 

• Power and lighting plans 
• One line riser for electrical service and feeders. 
• Notes, Schedule(s), and Details 
• Specifications 

 
Plumbing 

 Coordinate with other disciplines on various site components to be included in PROJECT. 
 Based on the 60% Design Submittal plans Approved by the CLIENT, and utilizing information 

obtained from Phases as described above, prepare one set of construction design plans, 
including: 

• Domestic water and sanitary sewer plans. 
• Notes, Schedule(s), and Details 
• Riser Diagrams 
• Specifications 

 
Environmental 

 Nationwide Permit Pre-construction Notification (if required): This task assumes the 
PROJECT would not exceed the impact thresholds of a Nationwide Permit. Activities that do 
not qualify for authorization under the nationwide permit program may qualify for 
authorization by standard individual permit.  This task further assumes that a single pre-
construction notification (PCN) will be submitted for the PROJECT.  This task will include 
preparation and submittal of all permit components required for the NWP PCN, including 
coordination with the USACE, outlined as follows: 

• Name, address, and telephone numbers of the prospective permittee. 
• Location of the proposed PROJECT. 
• A description of the proposed PROJECT; the purpose of the proposed PROJECT; 

direct and indirect adverse environmental effects the PROJECT would cause, 
including the anticipated amount of loss of waters of the United States expected to 
result from the activity, in acre, linear feet, or other appropriate unit of measure. 

• Delineation of waters of the United States. 
• Threatened and endangered species assessment. 
• Cultural resources assessment; and 
• Compensatory mitigation plan. 

 
 Aquatic Species Relocation and Recovery Plan (ARRP) Development (if required): This 

task includes coordination between Halff and Texas Parks and Wildlife Department Kills and 
Spills Team, and the Client to develop an ARRP for this PROJECT.  This task also includes a 
one-day limited field visit to assess aquatic habitat within the PROJECT areas to assist in 
developing the ARRP, including the development of aquatic life recovery and relocation 
procedures.  This habitat assessment will be provided as an attachment to the ARRP to 
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provide context to the methodology outlined in the plan.  Additional scope and fees will be 
required to fulfill ARRP requirements (e.g. field onsite removal/relocation)  

 
Water Resources 

 60% Documentation will be carried forward as needed. 
 
PROJECT Manual 

 PROJECT Manual with Proposal, Bid Schedule, Technical Specifications, and Bid Forms for 
site improvements following CLIENT/PROJECT specific standards and requirements. 
Technical Specifications will be provided for review at the 90% and 100% submittal 
milestone.  

 
Drawing Deliverable Review/Comment Resolution Meetings: 

After each submittal milestone has been delivered to the CLIENT, CONSULTANT will schedule and 
conduct Drawing Deliverable Review/Comment Resolution Meetings with the CLIENT to discuss submittal 
review comments related to the PROJECT at the submittal milestones identified below. The number of 
Drawing Deliverable Review/Comment Resolution Meetings shall not exceed three (3). Meeting 
objectives will include design feedback, comment review discussions, and describe subsequent submittal 
deliverables per the Scope of Work, with general questions and answers. Notes may be taken by the 
CONSULTANT at these meetings to document items discussed and decisions made. The submittal 
milestones are as follows: 
 
• 60% Construction Documents – One (1) Virtual meeting (2 Hour maximum duration) 
• 90% Construction Documents – One (1) Virtual meeting (2 Hour maximum duration) 
 
Construction drawings shall be sheet sizes of 22-inch-Wide x 34-inch-Long (suitable for half size in 11-

inch x 17-inch format), with black and white line work. 

 

CONSULTANT shall, at the request of the CLIENT, transmit electronic copies of CONSULTANT work 

product components including data, photos, images, text, designs, and cost opinions for PROJECT-

related use by CLIENT including PROJECT budgeting and PROJECT coordination/communication.  

 

CONSULTANT’s 100% Bid Package shall include the sealed and signed construction document package. 

CONSULTANT shall incorporate any remaining CLIENT, and/or stakeholder comments from the 90% 

Construction Documents review period before the final submittal of the 100% Bid Package.  

Task 4.1 Deliverables: 
Deliverables provided by the CONSULTANT at each submittal milestone shall include the 

following: 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of meeting notes. 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the Construction Documents and PROJECT Manual (90% and 
100% only). 

• Three (3) bound copies of the Construction Documents (only upon written request). 

• Three (3) bound copies of the PROJECT Manual (only upon written request). 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the Opinion of Probable Construction Cost listing bid items, 
quantities, and estimated bid costs.  
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TASK 5 – CONSTRUCTION SERVICES (NOT IN CONTRACT)  

TASK 5.1 – BIDDING SERVICES 
 
Bid Distribution: 
CLIENT will be responsible for distribution of construction documents and specifications to all prospective 
bidders.  The tasks listed in this section are for a single bid.  Additional bid packages will be billed hourly. 
 
Bid Process Coordination: 
CONSULTANT will assist the CLIENT during the bidding process by attending a pre-bid meeting, 
preparing any needed information for bidding regarding the construction drawings, addressing technical 
questions and bidder inquiries. CONSULTANT will prepare addenda for issuance to bidders. Addendum 
items that will alter the probable cost of the PROJECT must be approved by the CLIENT. These design 
changes will be considered additional services in which additional compensation will be due the 
CONSULTANT. Addendums will be added to the construction documents, and the construction 
documents reissued as "ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION" documents at the end of the bidding period. 
 
Pre-Bid Conference: 
CLIENT shall be responsible for scheduling and facilitating the pre-bid conference. CONSULTANT may 
attend one (1) pre-bid conference to assist the CLIENT with describing the PROJECT design to 
prospective bidders. Notes may be taken by the CONSULTANT to record items discussed and decisions 
made during the pre-bid conference. 
 
• Pre-Bid Conference – One (1) Virtual meeting (1 Hour maximum duration) 
 
Bid Opening and Award Recommendation:  
If requested by the CLIENT, CONSULTANT will attend the bid opening. After the bid opening, 
CONSULTANT will review the bid results, contact references, prepare a bid tabulation, and provide an 
award recommendation to the CLIENT. 

 
• Bid Opening Meeting – One (1) in-person meeting (1 Hour maximum duration)  
 
 
 

Task 5.1 Deliverables: 
Deliverables provided by the CONSULTANT shall include the following: 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the Pre-Bid Conference notes. 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of Addenda’s. 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the bid tabulation and award recommendation. 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the "Issued for Construction" Documents 
 

 

TASK 5.2 – CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES 
 
Pre-Construction Conference: 
CLIENT shall be responsible for scheduling and facilitating the pre-construction conference. 
CONSULTANTS will participate in one (1) pre-construction conference and assist the CLIENT in outlining 
the PROJECT design, lines of communication, describing procedures, etc. Notes may be taken by the 
CONSULTANT to document items discussed during this conference and will be distributed to the CLIENT 
and Contractor. 
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• Pre-Construction Conference – One (1) on-site meeting (2 Hour maximum duration) 
 
RFI, Submittal, and Shop Drawing Review: 
CONSULTANT will review and provide responses to Contractor RFI’s (a maximum of 20), Submittals, 

Shop Drawings, Substitution Requests, Schedule Reports, and Pay Application Requests. 

CONSULTANT responses will be written and/or graphical, including, but not limited to, Exhibits, Details, 

Memorandums, Addenda, Architect’s Supplemental Information (ASI), Change Proposals, Change Order 

Review, Mock-up and Sample Reviews, change orders or construction change directives, etc., if there is 

no impact to PROJECT budget or schedule. Any work associated with RFIs, Submittals, Change Orders, 

and Shop Drawings that results in design modification differing from the 100% Bid Package must be 

approved by the CLIENT prior to proceeding. If technical modifications altering the PROJECT, including 

design elements, appurtenances, and/or modifications outside the Scope of Services described in the 

100% Bid Package above are required as part of the request(s), CONSULTANT shall notify CLIENT, 

request additional compensation, and revise the previously approved schedule accordingly. 

Construction Coordination and Site Observation Meetings: 
The CONSULTANT will conduct bi-weekly progress meetings (virtually) as required. It is anticipated that 
construction will take 6 months. 
The CONSULTANT will visit the PROJECT construction site to observe the progress and quality of the 
Work completed by the Contractor. Such visits and observations are not intended to be an exhaustive 
check or a detailed inspection of the Contractor’s work. Observations are to allow the CONSULTANT, or 
its assigns, as experienced professionals, to become generally familiar with the Work in progress and to 
determine, in general, if the Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents. Site visit 
reports will be prepared by the CONSULTANT to document existing conditions, installed items, 
construction progress, and items discussed during these site observation meetings. Digital PDF copies of 
the site visit reports will be distributed to the CLIENT within no more than five (05) days of the site visit. 
CONSULTANTS will participate in no more than two (2) on-site meetings per month during 
construction, assuming a (6) month construction period. Additional meetings may be requested 
by the CLIENT but will be considered additional services and invoiced hourly. 
 
• Construction Coordination and Site Observations – Twelve (12) virtual bi-weekly progress meetings 

(two (2) hour maximum duration) and 6 site visits (4) hour maximum duration). 
 
CONSULTANT shall promptly notify the CLIENT of any emergency conditions or notable occurrences 
observed while conducting the site observation visits. CONSULTANT shall not be responsible for any 
acts or omissions of the Contractor, subcontractor, any entity performing any portions of the Work, or any 
agents or employees of any of them. CONSULTANT does not guarantee the performance of the 
Contractor and shall not be responsible for the Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance 
with the Contract Documents or any applicable laws, codes, rules, or regulations. 
 
Preliminary Punch List (Pre-Final Walkthrough): 
CONSULTANT will conduct one (1) pre-final walkthrough with the CLIENT, and Contractor to check 
conformance of the Work with the Contract Documents and to verify the accuracy and completeness of 
the Work. This will constitute substantial completion. The CONSULTANT will prepare one (1) preliminary 
punch list that summarizes discrepancies in the conformance of the work giving a description of the 
discrepancy, photographic evidence, and geographical description of the discrepancy location.  
 
• Pre-Final Walkthrough Meeting – One (1) in-person meeting (2 Hour maximum duration) 
 
Final Punch List (Final Walkthrough): 
Once discrepancies identified in the preliminary punch list, are corrected, CONSULTANT will conduct one 
(1) final walkthrough with the CLIENT, and Contractor to confirm discrepancies were corrected. If needed, 
the CONSULTANT will prepare one (1) additional punch list that summarizes discrepancies in the 
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conformance of the Work giving a description of the discrepancy, photographic evidence, and 
geographical description of the discrepancy location. CONSULTANT shall notify CLIENT and request 
additional compensation if additional Punch Lists/walkthroughs are necessary. 
• Final Walkthrough Meeting – One (1) in-person meeting (2 Hour maximum duration) 
 
Record Drawings: 
CONSULTANT shall not be responsible for the preparation of Record Drawings for the PROJECT and 
does not guarantee the accuracy of these documents. Based on final acceptance from the CLIENT, the 
Contractor shall be responsible for preparing and delivering a digital PDF copy of a final set of Record 
Drawings for the PROJECT, including all incorporated written and/or physical changes resulting from the 
Construction Administration effort.  
 

Task 5.2 Deliverables: 
Deliverables provided by the CONSULTANT shall include the following: 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the Pre-Construction Conference notes. 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the shop drawing and submittal reviews. 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the RFI responses. 

• One (1) Digital PDF Copy of the preliminary punch list. 

• One (1) Digital PDF copy of the final punch list. 
 
 

PROJECT Close Out: 
CONSULTANT to assist CLIENT in acquiring final close-out documents, warranties, accurate as-built 
drawings and other documents from contractor required to close-out PROJECT. Review and approve 
contractor’s final Application and Certification for Payment including retainage. 

 
Maintenance Hand-off (Walkthrough): 

CONSULTANT will conduct one (1) walkthrough with the CLIENT and Installation / Maintaining 
Contractor(s) to confirm that maintenance has been provided as outlined in the contract documents, verify 
plant health, irrigation functionality, and to exchange maintenance information such as but not limited to 
list of maintenance provided and routine schedules (i.e. watering, fertilizing, mowing). The CONSULTANT 
will prepare one (1) memo that summarizes discrepancies to the conformance of the work giving a 
description of the discrepancy, photo, and geographical description of the discrepancy location. 
CONSULTANT will notify the CLIENT and request additional compensation if additional walkthroughs are 
necessary. 
 

• Maintenance Hand-off Walkthrough Meeting – One (1) in-person meeting (2 Hour maximum 
duration) 
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EXHIBIT B 

PROPOSED FEES 
PORTER PARK EAST SPORTS COMPLEX PHASE 1 

 
The basis of compensation for the services below shall be as follows: 

 

A. TASK 1 – DESIGN SUPPORT SERVICES 
(Lump Sum) 
Task 1.1 – PROJECT Management and Communication ......................................... $72,950 
Task 1.2 – PROJECT Kick-Off Meeting ......................................................................... $3,250 
Task 1.3 – Quality Assurance/Quality Control ............................................................. $9,250 

 TASK 1 TOTAL (Tasks 1.1 – 1.3) $85,450 
 

B. TASK 2 – DATA COLLECTION 
(Lump Sum) 
Task 2.1 – Geotechnical Report  ................................................................................. $26,400 
Task 2.2 – Design Survey .......................................................................................... $124,850 
Task 2.3 – Environmental Services........................................................................... $158,400 

TASK 2 TOTAL (Tasks 2.1 – 2.3) $309,650 

 
C. TASK 3 – SCHEMATIC DESIGN 

(Lump Sum) 
Task 3 1– Schematic Design (30%) ........................................................................... $154,500 
Task 3.2 – Opinion of Probable Construction Cost (30% OPCC) .............................. $2,750 
Task 3.3 – Phasing Plan Update .................................................................................... $6,750 

 TASK 3 TOTAL (Tasks 3.1 – 3.3) $164,000 

 
D. TASK 4 – Construction Documents 

(Lump Sum) 
Task 4.1 –60% CD’s and OPCC ................................................................................. $156,300 
Task 4.2 - 90% CD’s and OPCC ................................................................................. $260,500 
Task 4.3 - 100% CD’s and OPCC ............................................................................... $104,200 

 TASK  4 TOTAL (Tasks 4.1 – 4.3) $521,000 

 
TOTAL LUMP SUM SERVICES .......................................................... $ 1,080,100 
 

E. TASK 5 – Construction Services (Not In Contract) 
(Hourly with Estimate) 
Task 5.1 – Bidding Services ................................................................................ Est. $12,500 
Task 5.2 – Construction Phase Services ........................................................... Est. $72,650 

 TASK 5 TOTAL (Tasks 5.1 – 5.2) Est. $85,150 
 
**Direct Costs (Estimated Reimbursable Expenses)  ............................................... $10,000 

PROJECT GRAND TOTAL (Phases 1-6, & Direct Costs) $XX 
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EXHIBIT C 

EXCLUSIONS / AVAILABLE ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

The following services are not included in the scope or fees for this proposal; but can be provided by 
CONSULTANT, subject to negotiation: 
 
 GENERAL: 

1. Any additional work not specifically included in the Proposed Scope of Services will be 
accomplished as Additional Services. 

2. Client generated changes to the design once Construction Document Preparation has reached 
the 60% level of completion. Time will be invoiced at an hourly rate, per a proposal approved 
by the CLIENT, until the work is at the same level of completion as it was prior to the change. 

3. The development of amenities beyond the proposed Scope of Work is excluded.  
Revisions to the plans requested by the CLIENT after the plans are approved, unless necessitated by 
negligent errors on the plans. 

4. Modifications to documents after being issued for construction.  
5. Design of areas outside the limits of the defined PROJECT site.  
6. Design and coordination of existing utility relocations and modifications, including gas, 

telephone, or other franchise utility improvements.  
7. Additional graphic products. 
8. Additional meetings not identified in the PROJECT scope of services. 
9. Printing additional drawings, specifications and contract documents not identified in the 

PROJECT deliverables.  
10. The development design alternatives, or preparation of feasibility studies are excluded.  
11. Negotiations with adjacent property owners.  
12. Separation of PROJECT documents into multiple submittals or tasks. 
13. Funding support services  
14. Site visits or meetings other than Preliminary and Final Punch Lists.  
15. Modifications to documents that impacts design or budgets of other PROJECT disciplines.  
16. Design and/or modifications to systems not with the scope of the PROJECT. 
17. Preparation of any special interim sets of Construction Documents for phased construction 

other than previously stated. 
18. Additional printing of drawings and/or specifications for Bidding other than what is described in 

the scope of the PROJECT.  
19. Filing fees and permit(s) fees.  
20. Additional labor or overtime, due to lack of information and/or background drawings in a timely 

manner, to complete the PROJECT.  
 

IRRIGATION: 
21. Revisions to irrigation plans caused by CLIENT changes to landscape and/or hardscape plans 

after 60% submittal is excluded.  
 
PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT: 
22. Public Engagement, such as public meetings or hearings, is excluded.  
23. Communication with adjacent property owners, impacted stakeholders, and agencies are 

excluded.  
 

TRAFFIC: 
24. Preparation of Traffic engineering reports or studies is excluded.  
25. Detailed Traffic Control and/or Roadway/Traffic Modification Plans are excluded.  
 
PERMITTING: 
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26. Payment of any fees including but not limited to permit fees, filing fees, pro-rated fees, impact 
fees, taxes, federal and/or state regulatory agency review fees. 

 
CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTATION: 
27. The preparation and development of Construction Documentation beyond the scope of 

services described above is excluded.  
28. Off-Site Utility improvements are excluded 
 
CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION: 
29. No Construction Phase Services are included in this contract. These services may be negotiated 

and contracted under a supplemental agreement after completion of this contract. 
30. Construction staking. 
31. Value Engineering Services are excluded.  
32. Construction Administration Services beyond the scope of services described above is 

excluded. 
 

STRUCTURAL: 
33. Preparation and submittal of any design calculations. 
34. Contractor means and methods to complete the required work (Ex.: shoring design). 
35. Design of drainage structures not listed above. 
 
SUE: 
36. Quality Level A, B, or C is excluded.  
37. Permitting is excluded. 
 
SURVEY: 
38. Additional Survey Services for the Preparation of Easement or Right-of-Way Exhibits are 

excluded. 
39. Field survey of channel cross sections  
40. Field survey of area outside the identified PROJECT area is excluded.  
41. Geospatial Survey Services are excluded.  
42. Right of Entry preparation and coordination is excluded.  
43. Boundary Research and Boundary Resolution Services are excluded.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL: 
44. Review of federal regulations not listed in scope above.  
45. NEPA Environmental Documentation - Technical analyses and reports are excluded from this 

scope of services including air, noise, waters, biology, cultural resources, community, 
hazardous materials, indirect, cumulative analyses, etc.  

46. Additional regulatory agency requirements not identified in the proposed scope of services.  
47. Threatened or endangered species surveys or Section 7 consultation with the United States Fish 

and Wildlife Service (USFWS) under the Endangered Species Act are excluded. 
48. Presence/absence surveys for state listed threatened or endangered species, and species of 

greatest conservation needs and consultation with Texas Parks and Wildlife (TPWD) are 
excluded.  

49. Preparation of a U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) Section 404 Individual Permit 
Application is not included in this Scope of Services. 

50. Obtaining an Antiquities Permit from the Texas Historical Commission (THC), preparation of a 
research design, performing a reconnaissance survey or intensive surveys (i.e., on the ground 
or archival research for historic structures/districts and shovel testing/deep trenching for 
archeological sites), evaluation of National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) eligibility for any 
resources, evaluation of effects on NRHP-eligible or -listed sites, development of mitigation 
plans, or Section 4(f) evaluations are excluded. 
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51. Phase I and II Environmental Site Assessment performed in accordance with applicable 
American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) standards or any surveys/investigations 
involving sampling and laboratory analysis (e.g., hazardous materials sampling and analysis, 
asbestos surveys, and lead-based paint surveys) are excluded. 

52. Field survey of channel cross sections are excluded other than what is identified in the scope 
above. 

53. Field survey of area outside the identified PROJECT area is excluded.  
54. Federal, state, or local review and processing fees are excluded, except where provided for in 

the scope of services. 
 

HYDROLOGIC/HYDRAULIC (H&H): 
 
ELECTRICAL: 
55. Design for additional power connections or circuiting to other devices/equipment other than 

connections for the proposed PROJECT illumination. 
56. Design for Wi-Fi Systems.  
57. Design for Surveillance Systems.  
58. Design for any plumbing systems beyond what is stated herein. 
59. Preparation or submittal of any design calculations.  
60. Coordination with insurance companies, attorneys, or banking institutions.  
 
REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES: 
61. Costs for software licenses, logins, trainings, or annual fees are excluded. 
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EXHIBIT D 
 PROJECT LOCATION AND LIMITS 
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APPROVED MASTER PLAN 
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EXHIBIT E 

PROJECT SCHEDULE 
 
Preliminary PROJECT schedule is shown below and is anticipated to be approximately nine months. As 
indicated below, if a CLOMR is required the schedule will extend to approximately twelve months.  
PROJECT schedule is subject to modifications due to delays, agency review turnaround time, etc.  
Modifications to this schedule will be communicated with the CLIENT as the PROJECT progresses. 
CONSULTANT is prepared to begin immediately upon receipt of an executed copy of this proposal. 
 
This schedule is expressed relative to Notice to Proceed (T0) in business days/weeks and aligns with 
the scope’s milestone structure, 10-business-day review windows, and NTP gates following 30% and 
60% acceptance. If a FEMA CLOMR is required on the critical path, an alternate scenario defers 
90%/100% until CLOMR concurrence (CLOMR prep ~30 business days + FEMA review ~60 business 
days after 60. Review periods longer than 10 business days, added scope, or agency review durations 
may adjust these targets.  
 
Schedule Table (relative to NTP) 

WBS/Alt Milestone Relative to NTP 

T0 Notice to Proceed (NTP) +0 business days (week 0) 

1.2 Project Kick-off Meeting +2 business days (~week 1) 

2.1-3 
Data Collection Complete (Survey/Geotech/Environmental 
Desktop/JD) 

+30 business days (~week 6) 

2.4 Preliminary H&H Complete +45 business days (~week 9) 

3.1 30% Schematic Design Submittal 
+64 business days (~week 
13) 

Rev30 Client/Stakeholder Review (30%) 
+10 business days review 
(~+2 weeks) 

4.1 60% Construction Documents + OPCC 
+114 business days (~week 
23) 

Rev60 Client/Stakeholder Review (60%) 
+10 business days review 
(~+2 weeks) 

4.2 90% Construction Documents + OPCC (no CLOMR path) 
+149 business days (~week 
30) 

Rev90 Client/Stakeholder Review (90%) 
+10 business days review 
(~+2 weeks) 

4.3 100% CDs & Sealed Bid Package + OPCC (no CLOMR) 
+179 business days (~week 
36) 

ALT 
100% CDs & Sealed Bid Package + OPCC (with CLOMR on 
critical path) 

+259 business days (~week 
52) 
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RESIDENTIAL COLLECTION TONNAGE
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INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL
 COLLECTION TONNAGE
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PARTICIPATION SERVICES
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RELIABLE SERVICES

It is the policy of Republic Services that if a customer perceives that we missed a collection 

component, we return for collection and do not question the missed service. 154
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SAFETY - OUR # 1 GOAL 

Nothing is more important than safety, and no job is so urgent that we cannot 
take the time to do it safely. The very nature of what we do requires us to be 
uncompromising on safety, beginning with our employees and extending to our 
customers and into the communities we serve. Simply, a sustainable planet is 
only possible if everyone works and lives together… safely.
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MATERIALS DIVERTED
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Atmos Energy Corporation 
5420 LBJ Freeway, Suite 1800 
Dallas, TX  75240 
P 214-206-2568 Christopher.Felan@atmosenergy.com 

 
 
 
         
  
       
 
 
January 26, 2026 
 

 
City Official 

 
 

Re:  Rider GCR - Rate Filing under Docket No. OS-24-00019196 
 
 

Enclosed is Atmos Energy Corp., Mid-Tex Division's Statement of Rider GCR applicable 
for the February 2026 billing periods. This Statement details the gas cost component of 
the residential, commercial, and industrial sales rates for customers within your city. 
This filing is for informative purposes only and no action is required on your city's part.  
 
Should you have any questions, please let me know. 

 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Chris Felan 
Vice President, Rates and Regulatory Affairs 
Atmos Energy, Mid-Tex Division 
 
Attachment  
 

Chris Felan 
Vice President 
Rates & Regulatory Affairs 
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Part (a) - Mid-Tex Commodity Costs
Line (a) (b)

1 Estimated Gas Cost per Unit: $0.40140
2 Estimated City Gate Deliveries: 241,615,020    
3 Estimated Gas Cost: $96,984,269

4 Lost and Unaccounted For Gas % 1.6100%
5 Estimated Lost and Unaccounted for Gas $1,561,447
6 Total Estimated City Gate Gas Cost: $98,545,716

7 Estimated Sales Volume: 269,985,070

8 Estimated Gas Cost Factor - (EGCF) 0.36500

9 Reconciliation Factor - (RF): 0.00739
10 Taxes (TXS): 0.00000
11 Adjustment - (ADJ): 0.00000

Btu Factor           Per MMBtu
12 Gas Cost Recovery Factor - (GCRF) (Taxable) 0.37239 per Ccf 0.1000 $3.7239

13 Customer Rate Relief - (CRR) (Non-Taxable) 0.12000 per Ccf 0.1000 $1.2000

Part (b) - Pipeline Services Costs
Line (a) (b) (c) (d) (e)

Rate I - Industrial Service
Rate R - Residential Rate C - Commercial Rate T - Transportation 1 

Fixed Costs
14 Fixed Costs Allocation Factors [Set by GUD OS-24-00019196] 100.0000% 62.9568% 31.7550% 5.2881%
15 a.     Current Month Fixed Costs of Pipeline Services $66,452,843 41,836,610                 21,102,120                 3,514,113                   
16 b.     Plus: Second Prior Month Recovery Adjustment $0 $0 $0 $0
17 Net Fixed Costs $66,452,843 $41,836,610 $21,102,120 $3,514,113

Commodity Costs
18 a.     Estimated Commodity Cost of Pipeline Services $3,220,723 1,928,452                   1,013,677                   278,594                      
19 b.     Plus: Second Prior Month Recovery Adjustment $0 $0 $0 $0
20 Net Commodity Cost of Pipeline Services $3,220,723 $1,928,452 $1,013,677 $278,594

21 Total Estimated Pipeline Costs (Line 17 + Line 20) $69,673,566 $43,765,062 $22,115,797 $3,792,707

22 Estimated Billed Volumes 64,648,700                 Ccf 47,053,820                 Ccf 4,739,436                   MMBtu

23 Pipeline Cost Factor (PCF) [Line 21 / Line 22] (Taxable) 0.67700 Ccf 0.47000 Ccf $0.8002 MMBtu

24 Gas Cost Recovery Factor - (GCRF) [Line 12] (Taxable) 0.37239 Ccf 0.37239  Ccf $3.7239 MMBtu

25 Customer Rate Relief - (CRR) (Non-Taxable) 0.12000 Ccf 0.12000 Ccf $1.2000 MMBtu

26 Rider GCR 1.16939 Ccf 0.96239 Ccf Rate I - $5.7241 MMBtu
27 Rate T - $0.8002 MMBtu

1 Industrial Service and Transportation are reported in MMBtu. An MMBtu conversion factor of 0.1000 is used to convert from Ccf.

 
 

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION
MID-TEX DIVISION

STATEMENT OF RIDER GCR
February, 2026

PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GAS UTILITIES DOCKET NO. OS-24-00019196
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